# 3D Solution of the Boltzmann Equation on Supercomputers

FWF Application Category: Stand-Alone Project October 2015

Revision of Proposal P 28364-N35

# **Karl Rupp**

Institute for Microelectronics TU Wien Gußhausstraße 27–29 / E360 A-1040 Wien

Revised submission. Funded. Details:

https://www.karlrupp.net/2016/05/fwf-project-3d-solution-boltzmann-equation-supercomputers

# **Contents**

Introduction	1
Status of Research	4
The SHE Method	4
Large-Scale Solvers for Partial Differential Equations	7
Aims of the Project	10
Advances in the Discretization	11
Fast Linear Solvers	14
Efficient Nonlinear Solvers	16
Infrastructure of the Research Institutes	18
Ethical Issues	18
Time Schedule	19
Requested Funding	20
References	21
Abbreviations	26
Curriculum Vitae	27
Karl Rupp (Project Leader)	27
Andreas Morhammer (Candidate for PhD Student)	36
Tibor Grasser (Scientific Partner)	37
Ansgar Jüngel (Scientific Partner)	47

### Abstract

Semiconductor device simulation relies on solving the most accurate models available, commonly constrained by the computational budget of a single machine. The recent shift from purely two-dimensional to fully three-dimensional device layouts, however, entails much higher computational cost for simulations of the same accuracy – typically orders of magnitude. A reduction of the accuracy to fit the same computational budget is highly undesirable from an engineering point of view. Instead, accuracy can be preserved by increasing the computational budget beyond what is provided by a single machine through a distributed simulation on a compute cluster or supercomputer such as the Vienna Scientific Cluster.

Unfortunately, efficient simulations on supercomputers are very challenging and require a careful exchange of data across processes. It is the aim of this project to master these challenges by developing the necessary parallel algorithms and techniques. To define a reasonable scope for this endeavor, we consider the solution of the Boltzmann Transport Equation (BTE), which is commonly considered to be the best semiclassical description of charge transport in semiconductors. Unfortunately, the conventionally employed stochastic Monte Carlo method exhibits an unfavorable square-root dependence of accuracy versus computational resources. A better alternative considered in this project is the deterministic spherical harmonics expansion method with an accuracy directly proportional to the available computational resources. We will improve the discretization and derive scalable linear and nonlinear solvers for the BTE by building on top of the generic parallel solver infrastructure provided by the software package PETSc. The result of this project will be the first deterministic large-scale solutions of the BTE, providing unprecedented accuracy for three-dimensional device simulations to stimulate for new insights in urgent modeling and engineering challenges such as hot carrier degradation.

Existing fruitful collaboration with Prof. Ansgar Jüngel, Institute for Analysis and Scientific Computing, TU Wien, and Prof. Tibor Grasser, Institute for Microelectronics, TU Wien, will be continued in this project; both will contribute their expertise and experience on discretization schemes and macroscopic models for the BTE. Funding for the PI as a seniorpostdoctoral researcher and for one PhD student under the supervision of Prof. Grasser for the duration of three years is requested.

### Introduction

The continued scaling of metal-oxide-semiconductor (MOS) field-effect transistors has resulted in a shift to fully three-dimensional device geometries. For example, Intel is using 3D transistors (*tri-gate* transistors) in their latest Ivy Bridge, Haswell, Broadwell, and Skylake processors, resulting in higher speed and lower power consumption than earlier planar transistors. However, fully three-dimensional device simulations entail considerably higher numerical cost than two-dimensional simulations of planar devices. For example, if a twodimensional device simulation on a  $100 \times 100$ -grid is to be extended to a three-dimensional device simulation on a  $100 \times 100 \times 100$  grid with the same numerical resolution, 100 times more unknowns are encountered. In practice, the total numerical cost increases by even more than a factor of 100, because the unknowns are then coupled in three spatial dimensions and the cost of linear solvers typically grows faster than the number of unknowns.

The memory and processing power of current computers already allows for a simulation of three-dimensional devices using traditional macroscopic models such as the drift-diffusion model. However, feature lengths of modern scaled-down devices are below the range of validity of commonly employed macroscopic models [1], hence full solutions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation (BTE) are sought. In addition to macroscopic quantities such as the charge carrier density, a full solution of the seven-dimensional BTE also provides the distribution of charge carriers with respect to their momentum. Such additional information provides deeper insight and enables refined studies of high-energy effects such as hot carrier degradation. The most popular method for this purpose is the Monte Carlo method, which, however, leads to excessive costs due to its square-root dependence of the obtained accuracy on the total execution time [2]. Moreover, the inherent stochastic nature of the Monte Carlo method renders the simulation of rare events or those evolving on a relatively long time scale practically impossible. Examples include the floating body effect in silicon-on-insulator devices, the simulation of transistors at technologically relevant radio frequencies, or the resolution of high energy tails [3].

An attractive alternative solution approach for the stationary, six-dimensional BTE is the deterministic spherical harmonics expansion (SHE) method. It relies on an expansion of the three-dimensional momentum space into a discrete energy coordinate, while the angular



#### Figure 1

Microprocessor trend data for the last 40 years. Kinks around 2005 in power consumption, frequency, single-threaded performance, and the number of cores are apparent. Data up to 2010 collected by M. Horowitz, F. Labonte, O. Shacham, K. Olukotun, L. Hammond and C. Batten.

components are resolved by spherical harmonics. Consequently, only a nonlinear system of partial differential equations in four dimensions (three spatial dimensions and one energy dimension) needs to be solved instead of six dimensions for a direct solution of the BTE. Simulation results using the SHE method with 80 Gigabytes of main memory and total execution times on the order of minutes to hours for highly accurate two-dimensional device simulations (i.e. a three-dimensional simulation space due to the additional energy coordinate) at high accuracy have been reported recently in the literature [3]. In light of the previous example of increasing the computational effort by two orders of magnitude when transitioning from two-dimensional to three-dimensional device simulation, we estimate main memory requirements of about 8 Terabytes for fully three-dimensional device simulations (using a four-dimensional computational domain due to the additional energy coordinate) at high accuracy using the SHE method. These requirements can only be met through a distributed solution on supercomputers. With a typical memory configuration of 64 Gigabytes per compute node (cf. Vienna Scientific Cluster, third generation), 125 compute nodes (out of 2020 provided on the Vienna Scientific Cluster) are required to provide the necessary 8 Terabytes for fully three-dimensional device simulations. Because supercomputers also provide higher computational resources through parallelism, total execution times on the order of minutes to hours will be preserved.



STREAM benchmark results on a single compute node equipped with dual socket Intel Xeon CPUs. About 10 threads are necessary to use the memory channels well.

Let us now consider a single compute node in detail. The cubic increase in power consumption with the clock frequency has resulted in a stagnation of clock frequencies of processors around the year 2005, forcing vendors to provide multiple cores to further increase the computational power. With the number of transistors increasing in accordance to Moore's Law, today only parallel implementations can leverage the full computational power available, cf. Figure 1. However, the total number of floating point operations per second increases at a higher rate than memory bandwidth between the processor and the main memory. This disparity of processing power and memory bandwidth, known as *memory wall*, results in applications with a low arithmetic intensity, i.e. the ratio of floating point operations per byte transferred from main memory, to be bound by memory bandwidth. In particular, the numerical solution of partial differential equations using conventional low-order finite element or finite volume methods with iterative solvers are typcially limited by memory bandwidth. Unfortunately, a single thread is unable to transfer data using the full memory bandwidth, but instead about 10 threads (or MPI processes) are needed on typical two-socket configurations to use the memory channels sufficiently well, cf. Figure 2. When using coprocessors such as the Intel Xeon Phi or graphics processing units, even higher thread counts are necessary, for which fine-grained parallelism at the computational hot-spots needs to be exposed.

Overall, we estimate highly accurate three-dimensional semiconductor device simulation using the SHE method to run on 125 compute nodes with at least 1250 processes or threads.

### **Status of Research**

In this section we first review the state-of-the art for the SHE method for solving the BTE

$$\partial f / \partial t + \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla_{\boldsymbol{x}} f + \boldsymbol{F} \cdot \nabla_{\boldsymbol{p}} f = Q\{f\}$$
<sup>(1)</sup>

with carrier velocity v, force field F, and scattering operator Q for the distribution function f as a function of the spatial location x, momentum p, and time t. After that, the current status of research for large-scale solvers for partial differential equations, not restricting the discussion to semiconductor device simulation, is outlined.

### **The SHE Method**

The SHE method relies on a truncated expansion of the unknown distribution function  $f(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{p}, t)$  into spherical harmonics  $Y_{l,m}(\theta, \varphi)$  at the spatial location  $\boldsymbol{x}$ , momentum  $\boldsymbol{p}$ , and time t:

$$f(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{p},t) = f(\boldsymbol{x},\mathcal{E},\theta,\varphi,t) \approx \sum_{l=0}^{L} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} f_{l,m}(\boldsymbol{x},\mathcal{E},t) Y_{l,m}(\theta,\varphi) , \qquad (2)$$

where  $\mathcal{E}$  denotes energy (either total energy or kinetic energy), and  $\theta$  and  $\varphi$  are the polar angles in momentum space. Plugging this ansatz into the BTE and projecting the resulting equation onto the spherical harmonics, one finally obtains a system of partial differential equations for the unknown coefficients  $f_{l,m}(\boldsymbol{x}, \mathcal{E}, t)$ .

#### **Spherical Harmonics Expansion Order**

A larger expansion order L leads to a better approximation of the unknown distribution function [4]. However, larger expansion orders considerably increase the complexity of the problem. Consequently, the lowest expansion order L = 1 was used in first publications on the SHE for the BTE [5,6]. Later, arbitrary-order expansions were proposed and results for expansions up to fourth order were presented [7]. Since then, expansion orders of three to seven were demonstrated to be necessary for certain applications in order to compute accurate numerical approximations of the distribution function [8].

To reduce the computational cost of higher-order expansions, an adaptive variable-order scheme was developed by the PI, allowing for a two- to three-fold reduction in the number

4

5

of unknowns [9]. Furthermore, we also showed that the resulting system of partial differential equations for the SHE method is weakly coupled [10], which allows for a reduction of memory requirements for higher-order SHE proportional to  $(L + 1)^2$  instead of  $(L + 1)^4$ .

#### **Discretization of the Simulation Domain**

The gradient of the distribution function f with respect to the momentum p and the complicated scattering operator in the BTE for semiconductors in (1) require specialized numerical stabilization [11–14]. Other areas such as the simulation of fluids [15, 16], multiphase flows [17, 18], plasmas [19, 20], and rarefied gas flows [21–23] solve slightly different forms of the BTE. Therefore, a broad transfer of techniques for the parallel solution of the BTE from another area to semiconductor device simulation is generally not possible for two reasons: First, the established H-transform used to stabilize the SHE method by transforming from kinetic energy to total energy [8, 24] as illustrated in Figure 3 suggests a staggered-grid approach, in which even- and odd-order expansion coefficients are associated with different geometrical entities. Second, inelastic scattering with phonons couples carrier energies separated by the phonon energy, causing so-called phonon cascades in the solution. In combination, these two unique traits mandate custom techniques tailored to the very specific characteristics of the BTE for semiconductors.

Fully three-dimensional device simulations for complicated geometries are very demanding when it comes to handling the grid. The only use of unstructured grids dates back to Gnudi *et al.* [24], who used a prismatic mesh for first-order SHE expansions. To enable the first fully three-dimensional device simulations using the SHE method, the PI developed a discretization for the higher-order SHE method on unstructured grids [25]. Later, the PI refined the scheme to a cell-centered variant [26], resolving the need for Delaunay meshes.

Despite of several techniques for minimizing memory footprint, highly accurate solutions of the BTE using the SHE method cannot be obtained on a single compute node. The only fully three-dimensional device simulation reported so far used a tetrahedral mesh consisting of 27 456 vertices on a single compute node [25]. A desirable resolution for the spatial grid is a spacing of 0.1 nm, which results in a total of 4.8 million vertices for a fin with 20 nm long, 20 nm high, and 12 nm wide. Hence, simulations two orders of magnitude larger than those reported so far are desired.



#### Figure 3

*Left*: Trajectories of carriers in free flight are given by constant total energy H. While beneficial for stabilization (H-transform), the computational domain now depends on the potential. *Right*: Schematic of the system matrix structure for discrete energies  $H_1, \ldots, H_4$ . Each trajectory leads to a block matrix coupled to other blocks via inelastic scattering processes.

#### Solution of the Linear System

First publications on the SHE method relied on direct solvers due to the small number of unknowns encountered at that time [5, 6]. Meanwhile, the linear systems have become to large for a direct solution, hence iterative methods from the family of Krylov methods [27] have been reported more recently [24]. Jungemann *et al.* pointed out the importance of preconditioning [14] and reported results for a sequential incomplete LU (ILU) factorization preconditioner, which was used in a black-box manner without employing additional structural information available at the continuous level.

The PI developed a block-ILU preconditioner based on properties of the underlying physical processes for the SHE method [28], cf. Figure 3. This preconditioner is based on the observation that a good approximation of the full linear system is obtained if inelastic scattering processes are ignored, resulting in a block-diagonal system for which preconditioners per block can be computed in parallel. The high degree of parallelism enabled the successful use of graphics processing units (GPUs) in the solver cycle stage, whereas the setup stage was run on the CPU. However, the block-ILU preconditioner exhibits similar non-optimal asymptotic behavior than other ILU-based preconditioners, thus the number of solver iterations required for convergence grows with the system size. Other preconditioners for the SHE method based on advanced techniques, especially multigrid techniques, have not been investigated yet, but appear promising and will be considered in this project.

#### Physics in the SHE Model

Substantial improvements of the accuracy of the SHE method have been made since its introduction. It is now possible to obtain the same accuracy of the SHE method as the stochastic Monte Carlo method, yet at a fraction of the computational cost [29]. Most importantly, fullband effects are captured for arbitrary order expansions based on extensions of an approach initially proposed by Vecchi *et al.* [8, 30]. Available charge carrier scattering mechanisms include phonon scattering, alloy scattering, impurity scattering, impact ionization, and surface roughness scattering (see [8] and references therein). To capture carrier generation and recombination, the PI developed a bipolar SHE method [31] as well as a scheme for carriercarrier scattering [32] to more accurately model highly energetic carriers.

While it is easier to include accurate physics in the Monte Carlo method, the SHE method is applicable to scenarios for which the Monte Carlo method is not suitable, for example small signal analysis, small currents, noise, and more recently the simulation of avalanche break-down in *pn*-junctions [8, 33]. Also, the ability of computing the distribution function over virtually unlimited orders of magnitude has stimulated important contributions in modeling hot carrier degradation of both short- and long-channel devices [34, 35].

### Large-Scale Solvers for Partial Differential Equations

A finite volume method is used for the discretization within the SHE method, hence general principles of parallel solvers in areas such as computational solid and fluid dynamics can be adopted. Therefore, we subsequently summarize the main architectural features of large-scale solvers for partial differential equations encountered in the these areas.

#### Domain Setup and Decomposition

When using a structured grid, the computational domain of size  $N_x \times N_y \times N_z$  is usually decomposed into subdomains of size  $n_x \times n_y \times n_z$  for each process. Additional overlap regions (*halo* or *ghost* layers) are added to facilitate an efficient exchange of information across subdomains. As reflected by recent research on minimizing communication across processes [36], best performance is obtained when minimizing the surface-to-volume ratio of all subdomains [37]. Complicated geometries mandate the use of unstructured grids, which no longer allow for a direct decomposition merely based on index calculations. Instead, graph partitioner packages such as ParMETIS [38] or Pt-Scotch [39] are used for a decomposition, minimizing subdomain surfaces [40]. A graph partitioner may also be run on a coarse mesh followed by a refinement of the subdomains on each process until the desired resolution is obtained [41].

Even if subdomain surface areas are minimized, communication ultimately remains a bottleneck in the strong scaling limit because of the inherent latency of the communication network. Also, non-blocking communication needs to be used on very large clusters with up to millions of cores in order to overlap data exchange and computations [42]. Although we do not aim at simulations at such an extreme scale in this project, awareness for these kinds of bottlenecks is crucial for the design of efficient algorithms and implementations.

#### Krylov Solvers and Preconditioners

Direct solvers become prohibitively expensive for large-scale numerical solutions of partial differential equations in general and the SHE method in particular, hence suitably preconditioned iterative solvers are the methods of choice [43]. Frequently used iterative solvers are the conjugate gradient method for symmetric positive definite system matrices and the generalized minimum residual (GMRES) method for indefinite systems. Domain decomposition preconditioners and multigrid methods are both examples of the divide and conquer paradigm and therefore particularly attractive for large-scale solvers due to their superior asymptotic behavior when compared to other methods [44]. These favorable properties are also reflected in the emerging high performance conjugate gradient (HPCG) benchmark<sup>1</sup> and the high performance geometric multigrid (HPGMG) benchmark<sup>2</sup>.

Complex geometries such as transistors with thin oxide layers can make it impossible to derive a suitable coarse grid hierarchy for geometric multigrid. In such cases, algebraic multigrid preconditioners are popular black-box preconditioners, since they are solely based on information in the system matrix. While many flavors of black-box algebraic multigrid techniques have been developed [45], the injection of domain-specific knowledge into algebraic multigrid preconditioners can pay off to achieve optimal performance [46].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>http://hpcg-benchmark.org/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://hpgmg.org/

#### Many-Core Architectures

A lot of research was conducted recently on exposing fine-grained parallelism in iterative solvers and preconditioners in order to efficiently use many-core architectures such as graphics processing units (GPUs) and Intel's many integrated core (MIC) architecture. This includes contributions by the PI, both in the form of publications [47–50] and via the free open source linear algebra and solver library ViennaCL<sup>3</sup>. The dominant factor for overall performance in the context of the SHE method are the linear solvers. Fortunately, significant progress has been made in recent years: Fast kernels for sparse matrix-vector products are available [51, 52], which constitute essential building blocks for smoothing operators in multigrid methods. Several components for preconditioners, e.g. multi-coloring and level scheduling techniques [53, 54], are available. Results on algebraic multigrid preconditioners on GPUs [55, 56] are promising for a successful application to the SHE method.

Despite the availability of efficient building blocks, the high cost of data transfers often mandates custom compute kernels in order to avoid unnecessary communication to and from main memory, or across the PCI-Express bus [47]. Furthermore, GPUs only exhibit a fairly narrow sweet spot: On the one hand, system sizes needs to be large enough to hide PCI-express latencies, but also small enough to fit into the available GPU main memory.

#### Large-Scale Semiconductor Device Simulation

Because one- and two-dimensional semiconductor device simulations have long been sufficient, research efforts for semiconductor device simulation on distributed memory machines were focused on quantum mechanical simulations. As a result, very few publications deal with semiclassical device simulations on distributed memory machines: Early results for a three-dimensional parallel Monte Carlo simulator on up to 10 processors were reported by Kepkep *et al.* in 2001 [57]. In 2009, a three-dimensional parallel Monte Carlo simulator with results for up to 64 cores was presented by Zhang *et al.* [58]. Lin *et al.* demonstrated simulations based on the drift-diffusion system using an algebraic multigrid preconditioner on up to 4096 cores [59]. Gong *et al.* reported the solution of the drift-diffusion system for a circuit of 24 transistors using of up to 48 cores in 2012 [60]. However, no results on using the SHE method on distributed memory machines have been reported yet.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>http://viennacl.sourceforge.net/

### Aims of the Project

Industrially relevant state-of-the-art device layouts for logic and memory are fundamentally three-dimensional [61]. A fully quantum-mechanical treatment is computationally too expensive if complex geometries including process variability effects are to be considered, which rules out simpler mode-space approaches. On the other hand, macroscopic transport models such as the drift-diffusion model are no longer valid in the deca-nanometer regime [1], hence results obtained from fitting to data no longer reflect the underlying physical processes properly. A good compromise are solutions of the semiclassical BTE, particularly when using the SHE method, providing the necessary accuracy for predictive device simulation at manageable computational expense. Applications include the modeling of flash cell programming by hot electrons, for which a truly-3D bipolar SHE solver is attractive [61].

The aim of this research project is to conduct the first large-scale, highly accurate 3D semiconductor device simulations based on deterministic solutions of the stationary BTE. We will develop the necessary parallel algorithms to simulate FinFET transistors with meshes holding up to a few million vertices on supercomputers such as the Vienna Scientific Cluster. The resulting code will target CPU-only clusters, clusters equipped GPUs, and clusters with coprocessors such as the Intel Xeon Phi to maximize long-term impact and utility. Even though the focus of this project is on the SHE method, our results may also be applicable to other approaches such as Discontinuous Galerkin methods [62] or multigroup equations [63].

The Institute for Microelectronics and the Institute for Analysis and Scientific Computing will join their expertise to achieve the project aim and successfully overcome the challenges from the mathematics, computer science, and physics point of view. Thereby, this project will further strengthen the already existing successful collaboration [10, 25, 26, 28, 31, 32] and provide important stimuli: Research on semiconductor device reliability lead by T. Grasser will benefit from highly resolved high energy tails for an improved modeling of hot carrier degradation. Similarly, full solutions of the BTE constitute an important baseline for the development of spin-based macroscopic models at the group of A. Jüngel. Existing collaborations with industrial partners at the Institute for Microelectronics provide access to valuable input for state-of-the-art technology and ensure early and frequent feedback from users of the parallel SHE method throughout the project.

Discretization	Fast Linear Solvers	Efficient Nonlinear Solvers
Logarithmic SHE	Parallel Preconditioners	Fast Newton-like Schemes
Sparse Energy Grid	Tensor Structure	Multimodel Corrections

The individual subjects of research on the SHE method within this project are as follows:

The PI and the PhD student will jointly work on all three modules. A. Jüngel will contribute his experience in the discretization module, T. Grasser will share his experiences with macroscopic transport models in the nonlinear solver section. Since a large fraction of each of the three modules can be addressed in isolation, unexpected delay in one module will not block progress in others. More details on the individual modules are given in the following.

### Advances in the Discretization

As depicted in Figure 3 earlier, the SHE method requires an embedding of a spatial device mesh into an augmented (x, H)-space, where x denotes the spatial coordinates and H the total energy coordinate. With the employed tensor-construction using an energy spacing of about 10meV, there are several hundred discrete energies  $H_n$  necessary to span the typical energy range of several electron Volts. However, two problems are encountered with this scheme, which have not been addressed yet: First, the exponential decay of the distribution function with energy leads to a numerical range of solution values spanning ten to fifty orders of magnitude, which complicates the solution process. Second, the dependence of the computational domain on the electrostatic potential may result in a large fraction of the simulation domain to be unused at high bias voltages. We plan to address both issues.

#### **Logarithmic SHE Method**

The carrier distribution function f is known to be nonnegative and discrete approximations of the distribution function can safely be assumed positive within the conduction and valence bands. Also, f asymptotically decays exponentially to zero with respect to energy, hence an expansion of the energy-dependence of f into higher-order polynomials is a poor approximation, but instead f needs to be approximated by low-order polynomials in sufficiently small intervals. Consequently, the energy-dependence of f is approximated by piecewise constant basisfunctions with tiny (about 10meV) intervals using the SHE method. We will address the problems induced by the exponential decay of f with energy via an expansion of the logarithm of f into spherical harmonics at a given spatial location, i.e.

$$\log f(\boldsymbol{x}, \mathcal{E}, \theta, \varphi, t) =: g(\boldsymbol{x}, \mathcal{E}, \theta, \varphi, t) \approx \sum_{l=0}^{L} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} g_{l,m}(\boldsymbol{x}, \mathcal{E}, t) Y_{l,m}(\theta, \varphi) , \qquad (3)$$

which transforms the asymptotically exponential decay into a linear function due to the Fermi-Dirac distribution attained in equilibrium. Such an expansion of the logarithmic distribution function is in analogy to Slotboom variables for the drift-diffusion system and has the following important benefits:

- The function g also fulfills a BTE where the linear free streaming operator is unchanged, only the collision operator becomes (weakly) nonlinear. However, since the Boltzmann-Poisson system is nonlinear anyway, this additional nonlinearity does not complicate the solution process.
- *f* and *g* share the same discrete conservation properties when using the established finite-volume discretization.
- The energy dependence of g can be approximated well by low-order polynomials over larger energy intervals, particularly in the thermal tail of the distribution function. We expect that this will considerably enhance the smoothing properties of relaxation methods for use in multigrid methods (cf. subsection on preconditioners). Also, we expect that a discretization using higher-order polynomials with respect to energy can provide higher accuracy for fixed computational cost.

#### Sparse Energy Grid

In recent work we have applied the SHE method for the first time to power devices [26], for which bias voltages are substantially higher than for transistors used for logic circuits in conventional complementary MOS-technology. While the H-transform ensured stability at the applied bias of 16 Volt, it also required a proportionally larger total energy range to be considered for the simulation. The larger total energy range, however, resulted in a much higher number of elements in the augmented mesh, which was obtained from a tensor-construction based on the spatial mesh using N discrete energies for the extension into the



#### Figure 4

*Left:* Schematic view of a tensor-mesh in (x, H)-space for one-dimensional device simulation with exemplary band edge depicted in red. Many unneeded boxes are stored in the band gap and at high kinetic energies when using the conventional scheme.

**Right:** We will develop a datastructure such that only boxes essential for the simulation at relevant kinetic energies are stored in memory.

(x, H)-space. With the typical energy spacing of 10meV as mandated by phonon energies and a bias of 16 Volt, N is on the order of 1 600, resulting in memory requirements for the mesh in (x, H)-space being about 1 600 times higher than for the original spatial device mesh. However, most elements in the augmented mesh in (x, H)-space do not contribute to the simulation at such high bias, because they either represent negative kinetic energies in the band gap, or extremely high kinetic energies where the distribution function is not of interest, cf. Figure 4.

In order to enable successful applications of the SHE method to power devices with an applied bias of up to 100 Volt, we will develop a datastructure to store only those elements in (x, H)-space which represent relevant kinetic energies. This will be achieved by only storing elements right on or above the band edge up to a user-defined kinetic energy. In the background, index shifts determined by the discrete energy will be employed to access the correct element and data, so that each of the stencil operations for the system matrix assembly can still be carried out at constant cost. Overall, the proposed datastructure will result in memory requirements independent of the applied bias. The price to pay is an additional index calculation when accessing data for each element, which, however, is a minor price to pay for the huge savings in memory requirements at high bias voltages.

#### Fast Linear Solvers

The sparse linear systems obtained via the SHE method are too large to be solved efficiently with direct solvers. Iterative solvers, on the other hand, require good preconditioners when used for the SHE method [14]. Unfortunately, efficient parallel black-box preconditioners do not exist in general. Consequently, the aim of this module is to develop specialized parallel preconditioners for the SHE method to obtain fast convergence on supercomputers.

#### **Parallel Preconditioners**

All preconditioners employed for the SHE method so far are based on incomplete LU factorizations. However, the sequential nature of incomplete LU factorization preconditioners is not suitable for a direct application on distributed memory machines. Some parallelism can be achieved by concurrently applying incomplete LU factorizations to suitably chosen, independent blocks on the matrix diagonal. The PI demonstrated such a block preconditioner for the SHE method using incomplete LU factorizations on shared memory machines [28], where physical properties of the SHE method were exploited to specify the individual blocks based on discrete total energies, cf. Figure 3. Because the number of discrete energies Nis at least 100 even if only low voltages are applied, the resulting preconditioner exposed enough parallelism so that good performance could even be obtained GPUs. In this project we will extend the described block decomposition to a parallel domain decomposition preconditioner for distributed memory machines. This first step will be accomplished using the software package PETSc<sup>4</sup> and serve as the starting pointer for further investigations. The number of discrete energies N will suffice to scale simulations up to the 125 compute nodes set as a target in the introduction.

Our second step is to increase the parallelism for each subdomain by considering a parallel version of incomplete LU factorization preconditioners as recently proposed by Chow and Patel [64]. Their variant replaces the sequential factorization stage with a parallel nonlinear relaxation scheme and has been demonstrated to run efficiently on Intel's MIC architecture. We will extend their preconditioner to GPUs using our previous experience [47–50], extensively document its efficiency for the SHE method, and ensure that our implementation is freely available to the computational science community through ViennaCL and PETSc.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>http://www.mcs.anl.gov/petsc/



#### Figure 5

Iterative solver iterations required for the SHE method as a function of the inverse grid spacing 1/h when using an incomplete LU factorization preconditioner for the simulation of an nindiode. The exemplary data for preconditioners with optimal scaling illustrate our project aim of finding optimal parallel preconditioners for the SHE method, where the number of solver iterations remains constant or grows only very mildly as the grid is refined.

In a third step, we will investigate the use of multigrid preconditioners for the SHE method. We will start with existing methods available via PETSc, which also includes the preconditioners implemented in the packages Hypre<sup>5</sup> and ML<sup>6</sup>. Earlier work on multigrid preconditioners for the drift-diffusion model [59] suggests that these methods may also be an effective preconditioner for the SHE method. However, the additional energy coordinate required for the SHE method with the exponential decay of the distribution function with increasing kinetic energy may destroy the necessary smoothing properties of conventional relaxations. We will experiment with relaxation methods taking the exponential decay of the distribution function into account, both by developing relaxation routines explicitly tailored to the SHE method, and by employing the logarithmic SHE method discussed earlier. If no satisfactory results can be obtained using these algebraic multigrid variants, we will fall back to the investigation of geometric multigrid preconditioners, even though these may not be applicable for complicated device geometries. In either case, our efforts in finding a preconditioner for the SHE method with optimal scaling as depicted in Figure 5 will finally be summarized in a taxonomy similar to that of Elman *et al.* for the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations [65].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>http://acts.nersc.gov/hypre/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>http://trilinos.org/packages/ml/

#### Exploiting the Tensor-Structure of Higher-Order SHE

Spherical and elliptical symmetries in the underlying physical processes allow for a decoupling of the angular component of the phase space from the (x, H)-space when using the SHE method [8, 10]. As a consequence, the resulting system matrix A exhibits a tensor-product structure [10]:

$$\boldsymbol{A} = \sum_{i=1}^{9} \boldsymbol{X}_{i} \otimes \boldsymbol{Y}_{i} , \qquad (4)$$

where the matrices  $X_i$  describes the couplings in (x, H)-space, the matrices  $Y_i$  denote the angular couplings of the spherical harmonics, and  $\otimes$  denotes the Kronecker product.

We plan to exploit the Kronecker-product structure (4) in a novel fashion as follows:

- Develop fast matrix-vector product routines for CPUs as well as accelerators by inlining the a-priori known matrices Y<sub>i</sub> directly in the kernel sources rather than holding the values in main memory. This allows for the full memory bandwidth to be available for loading the matrices X<sub>i</sub> and also maximizes the cache available for the vectors.

These two steps will give rise to a "dual-order" solver scheme, from which we expect substantial savings in memory and memory bandwidth when compared to an explicit storage of the system matrix, ultimately also reducing execution time. The proposed scheme extends a related strategy originally proposed for nodal finite elements [66] to the SHE method.

#### **Efficient Nonlinear Solvers**

The aim of this module is to accelerate the existing nonlinear solution scheme of the SHE method, which is a Newton-scheme supplemented by Picard iterations for additional robustness with respect to the initial guess provided [8]. Details on how we plan to reduce the average cost of each nonlinear iteration and also the overall number of nonlinear iterations are given in the following.

#### **Fast Newton-like Schemes**

A common optimization for Newton-like schemes is to reuse the preconditioner for inverting the Jacobi matrix for several iterations and only recompute the preconditioner if convergence rates have degraded. Unfortunately, the *H*-transform prevents a direct application of such a strategy, because the dimensions of the linear systems change in response to a modification of the band edge induced by updates of the electrostatic potential.

We plan to enable a preconditioner reuse by augmenting the computational domain slightly to consider also energies in the band gap close to the band edge. In the first nonlinear iteration, the SHE coefficients for these forbidden states will already be part of the linear system, but forced to zero (*trivial unknowns*). If these initially forbidden states become part of the computational domain in the second or a later nonlinear iteration, the system matrix does not change its dimensions, but only its values. Therefore, the preconditioner from the first iteration can be reused and is only recomputed if the convergence rate degrades. We expect savings in execution time by up to a factor of two.

#### Multimodel Corrections

About 20 to 100 Picard iterations (also referred to as Gummel iterations) are usually performed first to improve the quality of the initial guess for Newton's method [8]. We plan to substitute about half of these expensive numerical solutions of the SHE equations by far less expensive solutions of suitably modified drift-diffusion equations to reduce the overall numerical cost. Because the drift-diffusion system can be derived from the SHE equations in the scaling limit of dominant phonon and electron-electron scattering [67], we refer to our proposed approach as *multimodel scheme*.

In order for the drift-diffusion model to reproduce the SHE method for a given potential profile, we will fit the free parameter in the drift-diffusion model, namely the carrier mobility, to numerically reproduce the carrier densities computed by the SHE method in the respective nonlinear step. This modified drift-diffusion system will then be solved together with the Poisson equation at much lower cost, and the updated electrostatic potential will be fed back to the full SHE model. We emphasize the novelty and innovative character of this multimodel approach, which is enabled by the availability of a model hierarchy for solving the BTE.

### **Infrastructure of the Research Institutes**

The proposed project fits well into the research activities of the Institute for Microelectronics and the Institute for Analysis and Scientific Computing. The former has a substantial amount of experience in the area of device simulation and will benefit considerably from the results obtained in this project for ongoing research on device reliability. The latter institute has a strong reputation in the development of new numerical methods in quantum mechanics, semiclassical device models, and finite element methods.

Tight collaborations with industrial partners (austriamicrosystems, Infineon) have been set up at the Institute for Microelectronics within several generations of Christian Doppler Laboratories as well as in European projects (ATHENIS, MODERN, MORDRED). Ongoing fruitful cooperations with TU Eindhoven have led to the development of efficient schemes for the solution of nonlinear discrete systems. A joint project with Global TCAD Solutions in an international project with Chinese institutions has been approved in summer 2015.

The close cooperation of the Institute for Microelectronics and the Institute for Analysis and Scientific Computing is a long tradition and dates back to the 1980s. In particular, the fruitful collaboration of the PI with Prof. Grasser and Prof. Jüngel has resulted in over 20 publications within the last five years.

The available infrastructure at the two institutes makes us well prepared for developing the proposed algorithms and their implementations. High-end GPUs from NVIDIA and AMD as well as Xeon Phi (Knight's Corner) coprocessors are available in powerful work stations at both institutes. Moreover, the Institute for Microelectronics hosts a cluster consisting of 13 nodes, each equipped with four AMD Opteron CPUs and 32 to 128 gigabytes of main memory. To test scalability in a realistic environment, we ask for appropriate allocations on the Vienna Scientific Cluster, including access to the next-generation Xeon Phi (Knight's Landing) processors and GPUs to the extent available.

### **Ethical Issues**

There are no ethical issues associated with this research project proposal.

### **Time Schedule**

The project is scheduled for 36 months. In the first year, the PI and the PhD student will work on the MPI-based parallelization of the existing simulator. First results on the effectiveness of different parallel preconditioners are expected towards the end of the first year. The second year is devoted to intensive work on the discretization module by the PI and further linear solver improvements by the PhD student by investigating multigrid approaches and exploiting the tensor structure for higher-order SHE methods. In the third year, the PI will optimize the most efficient preconditioners identified by the PhD student for accelerators, while the PhD student will work on the nonlinear solver module.

### **Dissemination**

As part of their scientific curriculum, both the PI and the PhD student will publish significant results obtained during the course of the project using the usual channels (journal papers, conferences, etc.) in agreement to the Open Access policy of the FWF. Newly implemented algorithms are thoroughly tested and integrated into our free open source SHE simulator ViennaSHE<sup>7</sup>. Any general purpose solver components developed as necessary by-products will be made available through ViennaCL and subsequently PETSc. We consider this additional free open source code dissemination effort vital for promoting Open Science in order to give other groups the ability to build their work on top of ours and in turn provide feedback and valuable suggestions on further improvements. At the end of the project, all project achievements will also be documented in detail in the dissertation of the PhD student.

#### **Human Resources**

The PI has accumulated valuable experience with the SHE method in a previous project funded by the Austrian Science Fund (P23598). With the proposed project he aims to prove early in his academic career that he is able to successfully lead a research project. His one-year stay as a postdoctoral researcher with the PETSc team at the Argonne National Laboratory, USA, makes him well prepared for the computational challenges in this project.

The PhD student will become acquainted with practical aspects of the state-of-the-art in parallel computing and the efficient use of modern computing architecture. This complements his former education in technical mathematics with a focus on computer science perfectly.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>http://viennashe.sourceforge.net/

# **Requested Funding**

Name	First Year	Second Year	Third Year	Total
K. Rupp	69 810 €	69 810 €	69810€	209 430 €
A. Morhammer	36 340 €	36 340 €	36 340 €	109 020 €
Total	106 150 €	106 150 €	106 150 €	318 450 €

To conduct the proposed research, funding for the PI (senior post-doctoral level) and one doctoral student (candidate: A. Morhammer) for a period of 36 month is required.

The coverage of travel costs is requested for research visits at the institutions of our scientific collaborators: In the first year, a visit at the PETSc group at Argonne National Laboratory, USA, will be vital for setting up an effective MPI-based device simulator. A visit at Prof. Gundolf Haase, University of Graz, Austria, at the end of the second year will refine further directions on optimizing the best preconditioners identified for the SHE method for graphics processors. Finally, a stay at Prof. Christoph Jungemann at RWTH Aachen, Germany, towards the end of the project will explore possible future directions in device modeling based on the higher accuracy of the fully parallel simulator.

Name	Destination	Duration	Travel Cost	Hotel Cost	Sum
First Year					
K. Rupp	Argonne, USA	12 days	1 000 €	600€	1 600 €
A. Morhammer	Argonne, USA	12 days	1 000 €	600€	1 600 €
Sum					3 200 €
Second Year					
K. Rupp	Graz, Austria	12 days	50€	600€	650€
A. Morhammer	Graz, Austria	12 days	50€	600€	650€
Sum					1 300 €
Third Year					
K. Rupp	Aachen, Germany	12 days	200€	600€	800€
A. Morhammer	Aachen, Germany	12 days	200€	600€	800€
Sum					1 600 €
Total					6 100 €

### References

- C. Jungemann, T. Grasser, B. Neinhuus, and B. Meinerzhagen, "Failure of Moments-Based Transport Models in Nanoscale Devices near Equilibrium," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 52, no. 11, pp. 2404–2408, 2005.
- [2] C. Jungemann and B. Meinerzhagen, Hierarchical Device Simulation, Springer, 2003.
- [3] C. Jungemann, A.-T. Pham, S.-M. Hong, L. Smith, and B. Meinerzhagen, "Deterministic Solvers for the Boltzmann Transport Equation of 3D and quasi-2D Electron and Hole Systems in SiGe Devices," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 84, pp. 112 – 119, 2013.
- [4] W. Freeden, T. Gervens, and M. Schreiner, *Constructive Approximation on the Sphere*, Numerical Mathematics and Scientific Computation. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1998.
- [5] N. Goldsman, L. Hendrickson, and J. Frey, "A Physics-Based Analytical/Numerical Solution to the Boltzmann Transport Equation for the Use in Device Simulation," *Solid-State Electr.*, vol. 34, pp. 389–396, 1991.
- [6] A. Gnudi, D. Ventura, and G. Baccarani, "One-Dimensional Simulation of a Bipolar Transistor by means of Spherical Harmonics Expansion of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Proc. of SISDEP*, 1991, vol. 4, pp. 205–213.
- [7] K. A. Hennacy, N. Goldsman, and I. D. Mayergoyz, "2-Dimensional Solution to the Boltzmann Transport Equation to Arbitrarily High-Order Accuracy," in *Proc. IWCE*, 1993, pp. 118–122.
- [8] S.-M. Hong, A.-T. Pham, and C. Jungemann, *Deterministic Solvers for the Boltzmann Transport Equation*, Springer, 2011.
- [9] K. Rupp, T. Grasser, and A. Jüngel, "Adaptive Variable-Order Spherical Harmonics Expansion of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Proc. SISPAD*, 2011, pp. 151– 155.
- [10] K. Rupp, A. Jüngel, and T. Grasser, "Matrix Compression for Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation for Semiconductors," *J. Comp. Phys.*, vol. 229, no. 23, pp. 8750 – 8765, 2010.
- [11] C. Ringhofer, "Numerical Methods for the Semiconductor Boltzmann Equation Based on Spherical Harmonics Expansions and Entropy Discretizations," *Transp. Theory Stat. Phys.*, vol. 31, pp. 431–452, 2002.
- [12] C. Ringhofer, "A Mixed Spectral-Difference Method for the Steady State Boltzmann-Poisson System," *SIAM J. Numer. Anal.*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 64–89, 2003.

21

- [13] C. Ringhofer, "Dissipative Discretization Methods for Approximations to the Boltzmann Equation," *Math. Models Meth. Appl. Sci.*, vol. 11, pp. 133–149, 2001.
- [14] C. Jungemann, A. T. Pham, B. Meinerzhagen, C. Ringhofer, and M. Bollhöfer, "Stable Discretization of the Boltzmann Equation based on Spherical Harmonics, Box Integration, and a Maximum Entropy Dissipation Principle," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 100, no. 2, pp. 024502+, 2006.
- [15] G. J. M. Hagelaar and L. C. Pitchford, "Solving the Boltzmann Equation to Obtain Electron Transport Coefficients and Rate Coefficients for Fluid Models," *Plasma Src. Sci. Tech.*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 722, 2005.
- [16] P. R. Rinaldi, E. A. Dari, M. J. Venere, and A. Clausse, "A Lattice-Boltzmann solver for 3D fluid simulation on {GPU}," *Simulation Modelling Practice and Theory*, vol. 25, pp. 163 – 171, 2012.
- [17] S. H. Kim and H. Pitsch, "On the Lattice Boltzmann Method for Multiphase Flows with Large Density Ratios," J. Comput. Phys., vol. 303, pp. 19 – 27, 2015.
- [18] Y. Wang, C. Shu, H. B. Huang, and C. J. Teo, "Multiphase Lattice Boltzmann Flux Solver for Incompressible Multiphase Flows with Large Density Ratio," J. Comput. Phys., vol. 280, pp. 404 – 423, 2015.
- [19] J. A. Bittencourt, Fundamentals of Plasma Physics, Springer, 2013.
- [20] J. C. Richard, "Development of a 3D Spectral Boltzmann Solver for Plasma Modeling," in *Proc. Intl. El. Prop. Conf.*, 2009, pp. 1–9.
- [21] V. Titarev, M. Dumbser, and S. Utyuzhnikov, "Construction and comparison of parallel implicit kinetic solvers in three spatial dimensions," *J. Comput. Phys.*, vol. 256, pp. 17 33, 2014.
- [22] V. V. Aristov, A. A. Frolova, S. A. Zabelok, R. R. Arslanbekov, and V. I. Kolobov, "Simulations of Pressure-Driven Flows through Channels and Pipes with Unified Flow Solver," *Vacuum*, vol. 86, no. 11, pp. 1717 – 1724, 2012.
- [23] Y. Y. Kloss, D. V. Martynov, and F. G. Cheremisin, "Computer Simulation and Analysis of the Holweck Pump in the Transient Regime," *Tech. Phys.*, vol. 57, no. 4, pp. 451– 456, 2012.
- [24] A. Gnudi, D. Ventura, G. Baccarani, and F. Odeh, "Two-Dimensional MOSFET Simulation by Means of a Multidimensional Spherical Harmonics Expansion of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," *Solid-State Electr.*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 575–581, 1993.

22

- [25] K. Rupp, T. Grasser, and A. Jüngel, "On the Feasibility of Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation for Three-Dimensional Device Geometries," in *IEDM Techn. Digest*, 2011.
- [26] K. Rupp, M. Bina, Y. Wimmer, A. Jungel, and T. Grasser, "Cell-Centered Finite Volume Schemes for Semiconductor Device Simulation," in *Proc. SISPAD*, 2014, pp. 365–368.
- [27] Y. Saad, Iterative Methods for Sparse Linear Systems, Second Edition, SIAM, 2003.
- [28] K. Rupp, T. Grasser, and A. Jüngel, "Parallel Preconditioning for Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Proc. SISPAD*, 2011, pp. 147– 150.
- [29] B. Meinerzhagen, A. T. Pham, S. M. Hong, and C. Jungemann, "Solving Boltzmann Transport Equation without Monte-Carlo Algorithms - New Methods for Industrial TCAD Applications," in *Proc. SISPAD*, 2010, pp. 293 – 296.
- [30] M. C. Vecchi and M. Rudan, "Modeling Electron and Hole Transport with Full-Band Structure Effects by Means of the Spherical-Harmonics Expansion of the BTE," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 45, pp. 230–238, 1998.
- [31] K. Rupp, C. Jungemann, M. Bina, A. Jüngel, and T. Grasser, "Bipolar Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Proc. SISPAD*, 2012, pp. 19–22.
- [32] K. Rupp, P. Lagger, T. Grasser, and A. Jüngel, "Inclusion of Carrier-Carrier-Scattering Into Arbitrary-Order Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Proc. IWCE*, 2012, pp. 1–4.
- [33] D. Jabs and C. Jungemann, "Avalanche Breakdown of pn-Junctions Simulation by Spherical Harmonics Expansion of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Proc. SIS-PAD*, 2014, pp. 173–176.
- [34] M. Bina, S. E. Tyaginov, J. Franco, K. Rupp, Y. Wimmer, D. Osintsev, B. Kaczer, and T. Grasser, "Predictive Hot-Carrier Modeling of n-Channel MOSFETs," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 61, no. 9, pp. 3103–3110, 2014.
- [35] S. E. Tyaginov, "Physics-Based Modeling of Hot-Carrier Degradation," in *Hot Carrier Degradation in Semiconductor Devices*, pp. 105–150. Springer, 2015.
- [36] C. Olschanowsky, M. M. Strout, S. Guzik, J. Loffeld, and J. Hittinger, "A Study on Balancing Parallelism, Data Locality, and Recomputation in Existing PDE Solvers," in *Proc. SC*, 2014, pp. 793–804.

- [37] G. Hager and G. Wellein, Introduction to High Performance Computing for Scientists and Engineers, CRC Press, 2010.
- [38] G. Karypis and V. Kumar, "A Fast and High Quality Multilevel Scheme for Partitioning Irregular Graphs," SIAM J. Sci. Comput., vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 359–392, 1998.
- [39] F. Pellegrini and J. Roman, "SCOTCH: A Software Package for Static Mapping by Dual Recursive Bipartitioning of Process and Architecture Graphs," in *Proc. HPCN*, 1996, pp. 493–498.
- [40] S. Kirmani and P. Raghavan, "Scalable Parallel Graph Partitioning," in *Proc. SC*, 2013, pp. 51:1–51:10.
- [41] W. Bangerth, C. Burstedde, T. Heister, and M. Kronbichler, "Algorithms and Data Structures for Massively Parallel Generic Adaptive Finite Element Codes," ACM Trans. Math. Softw., vol. 38, pp. 14/1–28, 2011.
- [42] I. Bermejo-Moreno, J. Bodart, J. Larsson, B. M. Barney, J. W. Nichols, and S. Jones, "Solving the Compressible Navier-stokes Equations on Up to 1.97 Million Cores and 4.1 Trillion Grid Points," in *Proc. SC*, 2013, pp. 62:1–62:10.
- [43] M. Olshanskii and E. Tyrtyshnikov, Iterative Methods for Linear Systems, SIAM, 2014.
- [44] P. Jolivet, F. Hecht, F. Nataf, and C. Prud'homme, "Scalable Domain Decomposition Preconditioners for Heterogeneous Elliptic Problems," in *Proc. SC*, 2013, pp. 80:1– 80:11.
- [45] U. Trottenberg, C. W. Oosterlee, and A. Schuller, Multigrid, Academic Press, 2000.
- [46] M. F. Adams, H. H. Bayraktar, T. M. Keaveny, and P. Papadopoulos, "Ultrascalable Implicit Finite Element Analyses in Solid Mechanics with over a Half a Billion Degrees of Freedom," in *Proc. SC*, 2004, p. 34.
- [47] K. Rupp, Ph. Tillet, A. Jngel, and T. Grasser, "Achieving Portable High Performance for Iterative Solvers on Accelerators," *PAMM*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 963–964, 2014.
- [48] K. Rupp, Ph. Tillet, F. Rudolf, J. Weinbub, T. Grasser, and A. Jüngel, "Performance Portability Study of Linear Algebra Kernels in OpenCL," in *Proc. IWOCL*, 2014, pp. 8:1–8:11.
- [49] M. Lukash, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "Sparse Approximate Inverse Preconditioners for Iterative Solvers on GPUs," in *Proc. HPC Symposium*, 2012, pp. 1–7.

- [50] M. Wagner, K. Rupp, and J. Weinbub, "A Comparison of Algebraic Multigrid Preconditioners using Graphics Processing Units and Multi-Core Central Processing Units," in *Proc. HPC Symposium*, 2012, pp. 1–7.
- [51] J. L. Greathouse and M. Daga, "Efficient Sparse Matrix-Vector Multiplication on GPUs Using the CSR Storage Format," in *Proc. SC*, 2014, pp. 769–780.
- [52] M. Kreutzer, G. Hager, G. Wellein, H. Fehske, and A. R. Bishop, "A Unified Sparse Matrix Data Format for Efficient General Sparse Matrix-Vector Multiplication on Modern Processors with Wide SIMD Units," *SIAM J. Sci. Comp.*, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. C401– C423, 2014.
- [53] R. Li and Y. Saad, "GPU-Accelerated Preconditioned Iterative Linear Solvers," J. Supercomp., vol. 63, no. 2, pp. 443–466, 2013.
- [54] V. Heuveline, D. Lukarski, and J.-Ph. Weiss, "Scalable Multi-coloring Preconditioning for Multi-core CPUs and GPUs," in *Proc. EuroPar*, vol. 6586 of *LNCS*, pp. 389–397. Springer, 2011.
- [55] N. Bell, S. Dalton, and L. Olson, "Exposing Fine-Grained Parallelism in Algebraic Multigrid Methods," SIAM J. Sci. Comp., vol. 34, no. 4, pp. C123–C152, 2012.
- [56] G. Haase, M. Liebmann, C. C. Douglas, and G. Plank, "A Parallel Algebraic Multigrid Solver on Graphics Processing Units," in *Proc. HPCA*. 2010, pp. 38–47, Springer.
- [57] A. Kepkep, U. Ravaioli, and B. Winstead, "Cluster-Based Parallel 3-D Monte Carlo Device Simulation," VLSI Design, vol. 13, pp. 51–56, 2001.
- [58] W. Zhang, G. Du, Q. Li, A. Zhang, Z. Mo, X. Liu, and P. Zhang, "A 3D Parallel Monte Carlo Simulator for Semiconductor Devices," in *Proc. IWCE*, 2009, pp. 1–4.
- [59] P. T. Lin, J. N. Shadid, M. Sala, R. S. Tuminaro, G. L. Hennigan, and R. J. Hoekstra, "Performance of a Parallel Algebraic Multilevel Preconditioner for Stabilized Finite Element Semiconductor Device Modeling," *J. Comput. Phys.*, vol. 228, no. 17, pp. 6250–6267, 2009.
- [60] D. Gong and C. Shen, "Full-TCAD Device Simulation of CMOS Circuits with a Novel Half-Implicit Solver," in *Proc. SISPAD*, 2012, pp. 272–275.
- [61] A. Benvenuti, A. Ghetti, A. Mauri, H. Liu, and C. Mouli, "Current Status and Future Prospects of Non-Volatile Memory Modeling," in *Proc. SISPAD*, 2014, pp. 5–8.
- [62] Y. Cheng, I.M. Gamba, A. Majorana, and C.-W. Shu, "A Discontinuous Galerkin Solver for Full-Band Boltzmann-Poisson Models," in *Proc. IWCE*, 2009, pp. 1–4.

- [63] M. Galler, Multigroup Equations for the Description of the Particle Transport in Semiconductors, World Scientific, 2005.
- [64] E. Chow and A. Patel, "Fine-Grained Parallel Incomplete LU Factorization," *submitted*. *Preprint: http://www.cc.gatech.edu/ echow/pubs/parilu-paper.pdf*, 2015.
- [65] H. Elman, V. E. Howle, J. Shadid, R. Shuttleworth, and R. Tuminaro, "A Taxonomy and Comparison of Parallel Block Multi-level Preconditioners for the Incompressible Navier-Stokes Equations," *J. Comput. Phys.*, vol. 227, no. 3, pp. 1790–1808, 2008.
- [66] J. Brown, "Efficient Nonlinear Solvers for Nodal High-Order Finite Elements in 3D," J. Sci. Comp., vol. 45, no. 1-3, pp. 48–63, 2010.
- [67] N. Ben Abdallah and P. Degond, "On a Hierarchy of Macroscopic Models for Semiconductors," J. Math. Phys., vol. 37, pp. 3306–3333, 1996.

### **Abbreviations**

BTE	Boltzmann transport equation
GPU	graphics processing unit
MIC	many integrated cores
MOS	metal-oxide-semiconductor
MPI	message passing interface
SHE	spherical harmonics expansion

# Curriculum Vitae

# Karl Rupp (Project Leader)

(CV is not part of the public version of this proposal to protect the privacy of all partners involved in the project)

- [1] M. Bina, S. E. Tyaginov, J. Franco, K. Rupp, Y. Wimmer, D. Osintsev, B. Kaczer, and T. Grasser, "Predictive Hot-Carrier Modeling of n-Channel MOSFETs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 61, no. 9, pp. 3103–3110, 2014.
- [2] K. Rupp, M. Bina, Y. Wimmer, A. Jungel, and T. Grasser, "Cell-Centered Finite Volume Schemes for Semiconductor Device Simulation," in *Proceedings of the 19<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices (SISPAD)*, 2014, pp. 365–368.
- [3] D. Demidov, K. Ahnert, K. Rupp, and P. Gottschling, "Programming CUDA and OpenCL: A Case Study Using Modern C++ Libraries," *SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing*, vol. 35, no. 5, pp. 453–472, 2013.
- [4] M. Bina, K. Rupp, S. Tyaginov, O. Triebl, and T. Grasser, "Modeling of Hot Carrier Degradation Using a Spherical Harmonics Expansion of the Bipolar Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Proceedings of the 2012 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 2012, pp. 713–716.
- [5] K. Rupp, P. Lagger, T. Grasser, and A. Jüngel, "Inclusion of Carrier-Carrier-Scattering Into Arbitrary-Order Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *The 15<sup>th</sup> International Workshop on Computational Electronics (IWCE)*, pp. 1–4. 2012.
- [6] K. Rupp, C. Jungemann, M. Bina, A. Jüngel, and T. Grasser, "Bipolar Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Proceedings of the 17<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices (SIS-PAD)*, 2012, pp. 19–22.
- [7] K. Rupp, T. Grasser, and A. Jüngel, "Adaptive Variable-Order Spherical Harmonics Expansion of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Proceedings of the 16<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices (SISPAD)*, 2011, pp. 151–155.
- [8] K. Rupp, T. Grasser, and A. Jüngel, "On the Feasibility of Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation for Three-Dimensional Device Geometries," in *Proceedings of the 2011 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting* (*IEDM*), 2011.
- [9] K. Rupp, T. Grasser, and A. Jüngel, "Parallel Preconditioning for Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Proceedings of the 16<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices (SISPAD)*, 2011, pp. 147–150.
- [10] K. Rupp, A. Jüngel, and T. Grasser, "Matrix Compression for Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation for Semiconductors," *Journal of Computational Physics*, vol. 229, pp. 8750–8765, 2010.

# All Publications of K. Rupp since 2010

For a complete and up-to-date list please refer to http://www.iue.tuwien.ac.at/

- [1] M. Bina, S. E. Tyaginov, J. Franco, K. Rupp, Y. Wimmer, D. Osintsev, B. Kaczer, and T. Grasser, "Predictive Hot-Carrier Modeling of n-Channel MOSFETs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 61, no. 9, pp. 3103–3110, 2014.
- M. Bina and K. Rupp, "The Spherical Harmonics Expansion Method for Assessing Hot Carrier Degradation," in *Hot Carrier Degradation in Semiconductor Devices*, T. Grasser, Ed., pp. 197–220. Springer, 2015.
- [3] M. Bina, K. Rupp, S. Tyaginov, O. Triebl, and T. Grasser, "Modeling of Hot Carrier Degradation Using a Spherical Harmonics Expansion of the Bipolar Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Proceedings of the 2012 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 2012, pp. 713–716.
- [4] D. Demidov, K. Ahnert, K. Rupp, and P. Gottschling, "Programming CUDA and OpenCL: A Case Study Using Modern C++ Libraries," *SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing*, vol. 35, no. 5, pp. 453–472, 2013.
- [5] V. Kysenko, K. Rupp, O. Marchenko, S. Selberherr, and A. Anisimov, "GPU-Accelerated Non-negative Matrix Factorization for Text Mining," in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol. 7337*, G. Bouma, A. Ittoo, E. Metais, and H. Wortmann, Eds., pp. 158–163. Springer, 2012.
- [6] M. Lukash, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "Sparse Approximate Inverse Preconditioners for Iterative Solvers on GPUs," in *Proceedings of the Spring Simulation Multiconference 2012*, 2012.
- [7] F. Ortmann, S. Roche, J. C. Greer, G. Huhs, T. Shulthess, T. Deutsch, P. Weinberger, M. Payne, J. M. Sellier, J. Sprekels, J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, M. Nedjalkov, D. Vasileska, E. Alfinito, L. Reggiani, D. Guerra, D.K. Ferry, M. Saraniti, S.M. Goodnick, A. Kloes, L. Colombo, K. Lilja, J. Mateos, T. Gonzalez, E. Velazquez, P Palestri, A. Schenk, and M. Macucci, "Multi-Scale Modelling for Devices and Circuits," *E-Nano Newsletter*, vol. Special Issue April 2012, 2012.
- [8] J. Rodriguez, J. Weinbub, D. Pahr, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "Distributed High-Performance Parallel Mesh Generation with ViennaMesh," in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol.* 7782, P. Manninen and P. Öster, Eds., pp. 548–552. Springer, 2013.

- [9] F. Rudolf, J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "The Meshing Framework ViennaMesh for Finite Element Applications," *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 270, pp. 166–177, 2014.
- [10] F. Rudolf, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "ViennaMesh a Highly Flexible Meshing Framework," in Abstracts 4<sup>th</sup> International Congress on Computational Engineering and Sciences (ICCES), 2013.
- [11] F. Rudolf, J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, A. Morhammer, and S. Selberherr, "Template-Based Mesh Generation for Semiconductor Devices," in *Proceedings of the 19<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices (SISPAD)*, 2014, pp. 217–220.
- [12] F. Rudolf, Y. Wimmer, J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "Mesh Generation Using Dynamic Sizing Functions," in *Proceedings of the 4<sup>th</sup> European Seminar on Computing (ESCO)*, 2014, p. 191.
- [13] F. Rudolf, J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, P. Resutik, and S. Selberherr, "Mesh Healing for TCAD Simulations," in Abstracts International Conference on Large-Scale Scientific Computations (LSSC), 2015, p. 66.
- [14] K. Rupp, "High-Level Manipulation of OpenCL-Based Subvectors and Submatrices," *Procedia Computer Science*, vol. 9, pp. 1857–1866, 2012.
- [15] K. Rupp, A. Jüngel, and T. Grasser, "Matrix Compression for Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation for Semiconductors," *Journal of Computational Physics*, vol. 229, pp. 8750–8765, 2010.
- [16] K. Rupp and S. Selberherr, "The Economic Limit to Moore's Law," *IEEE Transactions on Semiconductor Manufacturing*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 1–4, 2011.
- [17] K. Rupp, Ph. Tillet, A. Jüngel, and T. Grasser, "Achieving Portable High Performance for Iterative Solvers on Accelerators," *Proceedings in Applied Mathematics and Mechanics*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 963–964, 2014.
- [18] K. Rupp, A. Jüngel, and T. Grasser, "A GPU-Accelerated Parallel Preconditioner for the Solution of the Boltzmann Transport Equation for Semiconductors," in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol. 7174*, R. Keller, D. Kramer, and J.-Ph. Weiss, Eds., pp. 147–157. Springer, 2012.

30

- [19] K. Rupp, A. Jüngel, and T. Grasser, "Deterministic Numerical Solution of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Progress in Industrial Mathematics at ECMI 2010*, R. Keller, D. Kramer, and J.-Ph. Weiss, Eds., pp. 53–59. Springer, 2012.
- [20] K. Rupp, P. Lagger, T. Grasser, and A. Jüngel, "Inclusion of Carrier-Carrier-Scattering Into Arbitrary-Order Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *The 15<sup>th</sup> International Workshop on Computational Electronics (IWCE)*, pp. 1–4. 2012.
- [21] K. Rupp, "Deterministic Numerical Solution of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in Proceedings of the Austrian-Chinese Workshop on Dissipative Systems: Kinetic Theory and Semiconductor Applications, 2010, pp. 7–8.
- [22] K. Rupp, "Increased Efficiency In Finite Element Computations Through Template Metaprogramming," in *Proceedings of the Spring Simulation Multiconference 2010*, 2010.
- [23] K. Rupp, "Symbolic Integration at Compile Time in Finite Element Methods," in Proceedings of the 2010 International Symposium on Symbolic and Algebraic Computation, 2010, pp. 347–354.
- [24] K. Rupp, "The High-Level Linear Algebra Library ViennaCL and Its Applications," in *Abstracts of GPU Technology Conference*, 2012, p. 77.
- [25] K. Rupp, M. Bina, Y. Wimmer, A. Jungel, and T. Grasser, "Cell-Centered Finite Volume Schemes for Semiconductor Device Simulation," in *Proceedings of the 19<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices (SISPAD)*, 2014, pp. 365–368.
- [26] K. Rupp, T. Grasser, and A. Jüngel, "Adaptive Variable-Order Spherical Harmonics Expansion of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Proceedings of the 16<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices (SISPAD)*, 2011, pp. 151–155.
- [27] K. Rupp, T. Grasser, and A. Jüngel, "On the Feasibility of Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation for Three-Dimensional Device Geometries," in *Proceedings of the 2011 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting* (*IEDM*), 2011.

- [28] K. Rupp, T. Grasser, and A. Jüngel, "Parallel Preconditioning for Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Proceedings of the 16<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices (SISPAD)*, 2011, pp. 147–150.
- [29] K. Rupp, T. Grasser, and A. Jüngel, "Recent Advances in the Spherical Harmonics Expansion of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Abstracts of Congresso Nationale SIMAI 2012*, 2012, p. 183.
- [30] K. Rupp, T. Grasser, and A. Jüngel, "System Matrix Compression for Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Proceedings of the 15<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices (SIS-PAD)*, 2010, pp. 159–162.
- [31] K. Rupp, C. Jungemann, M. Bina, A. Jüngel, and T. Grasser, "Bipolar Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Proceedings of the 17<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices (SIS-PAD)*, 2012, pp. 19–22.
- [32] K. Rupp, F. Rudolf, and J. Weinbub, "A Discussion of Selected Vienna-Libraries for Computational Science," in *Proceedings of C++Now (2013)*, 2013.
- [33] K. Rupp, F. Rudolf, and J. Weinbub, "ViennaCL A High Level Linear Algebra Library for GPUs and Multi-Core CPUs," in *Proceedings of the International Workshop on GPUs and Scientific Applications (GPUScA 2010)*, 2010, pp. 51–56.
- [34] K. Rupp, F. Rudolf, J. Weinbub, A. Jungel, and T. Grasser, "Automatic Finite Volume Discretizations Through Symbolic Computations," in *Proc. 4<sup>th</sup> European Seminar on Computing (ESCO)*, 2014, p. 192.
- [35] K. Rupp and B. Smith, "On Level Scheduling for Incomplete LU Factorization Preconditioners on Accelerators," in *Abstracts 4<sup>th</sup> International Congress on Computational Engineering and Sciences*, 2013, p. 1.
- [36] K. Rupp, Ph. Tillet, A. Jungel, and T. Grasser, "Achieving Portable High Performance for Iterative Solvers on Accelerators," in *Book of Abstracts*, 2014, p. 815.
- [37] K. Rupp, Ph. Tillet, F. Rudolf, and J. Weinbub, "ViennaCL Portable High Performance at High Convenience," in *ENUMATH 2013 Proceedings*, 2013, pp. 1–2.

- [38] K. Rupp, Ph. Tillet, B. Smith, T. Grasser, and A. Jungel, "A Note on the GPU Acceleration of Eigenvalue Computations," in *AIP Proceedings, volume 1558*, 2013, pp. 1536–1539.
- [39] K. Rupp, J. Weinbub, and F. Rudolf, "Automatic Performance Optimization in ViennaCL for GPUs," in *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> Workshop on Parallel/High-Performance Object-Oriented Scientific Computing*, 2010.
- [40] P. Sharma, S. E. Tyaginov, Y. Wimmer, F. Rudolf, K. Rupp, M. Bina, H. Enichlmair, J. M. Park, R. Minixhofer, H. Ceric, and T. Grasser, "Modeling of Hot-Carrier Degradation in nLDMOS Devices: Different Approaches to the Solution of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 62, no. 6, pp. 1811– 1818, 2015.
- [41] P. Sharma, S. E. Tyaginov, Y. Wimmer, F. Rudolf, K. Rupp, M. Bina, H. Enichlmair, J.M. Park, H. Ceric, and T. Grasser, "Predictive and Efficient Modeling of Hot-Carrier Degradation in nLDMOS Devices," in *Proceedings of the 2015 IEEE 27th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & IC's (ISPSD)*, 2015, pp. 389– 392.
- [42] Ph. Tillet, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "An Automatic OpenCL Compute Kernel Generator for Basic Linear Algebra Operations," in *Proceedings of the Spring Simulation Multiconference 2012*, 2012.
- [43] Ph. Tillet, K. Rupp, S. Selberherr, and Ch.-T. Lin, "Towards Performance-Portable, Scalable, and Convenient Linear Algebra," in *Proceedings of 5<sup>th</sup> USENIX Workshop on Hot Topics in Parallelism*, 2013, pp. 1–8.
- [44] M. Wagner, K. Rupp, and J. Weinbub, "A Comparison of Algebraic Multigrid Preconditioners using Graphics Processing Units and Multi-Core Central Processing Units," in *Proceedings of the Spring Simulation Multiconference 2012*, 2012.
- [45] Y. Wang, M. Baboulin, K. Rupp, and O. Le Maitre, "Solving 3D incompressible Navier-Stokes Equations on Hybrid CPU/GPU systems," in *HPC '14 Proceedings* of the High Performance Computing Symposium, 2014, pp. 1–8.
- [46] J. Weinbub, J. Cervenka, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "A Generic High-Quality Meshing Framework," in *Proceedings of the 11th US National Congress on Computational Mechanics (USNCCM)*, 2011.

- [47] J. Weinbub, J. Cervenka, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "High-Quality Mesh Generation Based on Orthogonal Software Modules," in *Proceedings of the 16<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices*, 2011, pp. 139– 142.
- [48] J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, L. Filipovic, A. Makarov, and S. Selberherr, "Towards a Free Open Source Process and Device Simulation Framework," in *Proceedings of the 15<sup>th</sup> International Workshop on Computational Electronics (IWCE)*, 2012, pp. 141–142.
- [49] J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, and F. Rudolf, "A Flexible Material Database for Computational Science and Engineering," in *Proc. 4<sup>th</sup> European Seminar on Computing (ESCO)*, 2014, p. 226.
- [50] J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "A Flexible Execution Framework for High-Performance TCAD Applications," in *Proceedings of the 17<sup>th</sup> International Conference* on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices, 2012, pp. 400–403.
- [51] J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "A Generic Multi-Dimensional Run-Time Data Structure for High-Performance Scientific Computing," in *Proceedings of the World Congress on Engineering (WCE)*, 2012, pp. 1076–1081.
- [52] J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "Distributed Heterogenous High-Performance Computing with ViennaCL," in *Abstracts Intl. Conf. on Large-Scale Scientific Computations*, 2011, pp. 88–90.
- [53] J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "Increasing Flexibility and Reusability of Finite Element Simulations With ViennaX," in *Abstracts 4<sup>th</sup> International Congress on Computational Engineering and Sciences (ICCES)*, 2013.
- [54] J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "Utilizing Modern Programming Techniques and the Boost Libraries for Scientific Software Development," in *Proceedings of* C++Now (2012), 2012.
- [55] J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "ViennaIPD An Input Control Language for Scientific Computing," in *Proceedings of the Industrial Simulation Conference*, 2010, pp. 34–38.
- [56] J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "Highly Flexible and Reusable Finite Element Simulations with ViennaX," *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 270, pp. 484–495, 2014.

- [57] J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "ViennaX: A Parallel Plugin Execution Framework for Scientific Computing," *Engineering with Computers*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 651– 668, 2014.
- [58] J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, L. Filipovic, A. Makarov, and S. Selberherr, "Towards a Free Open Source Process and Device Simulation Framework," in *The 15<sup>th</sup> International Workshop on Computational Electronics (IWCE)*, pp. 1–4. 2012.
- [59] J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "A Flexible Dynamic Data Structure for Scientific Computing," in *Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering, Vol. 229*, G.-Ch. Yang, S.-L. Ao, and L. Gelman, Eds., pp. 565–577. Springer, 2013.
- [60] J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "A Lightweight Task Graph Scheduler for Distributed High-Performance Scientific Computing," in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol.* 7782, P. Manninen and P. Öster, Eds., pp. 563–566. Springer, 2013.
- [61] J. Weinbub, K. Rupp, and S. Selberherr, "Towards Distributed Heterogenous High-Performance Computing with ViennaCL," in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol.* 7116, I. Lirkov, S. Margenov, and J. Wasniewski, Eds., pp. 359–367. Springer, 2012.
- [62] J. Weinbub, M. Wastl, K. Rupp, F. Rudolf, and S. Selberherr, "ViennaMaterials -A Dedicated Material Library for Computational Science and Engineering," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 267, pp. 282–293, 2015.
- [63] Y. Wimmer, S. E. Tyaginov, F. Rudolf, K. Rupp, M. Bina, H. Enichlmair, J. M. Park, R. Minixhofer, H. Ceric, and T. Grasser, "Physical Modeling of Hot-Carrier Degradation in nLDMOS Transistors," in 2014 IEEE International Integrated Reliability Workshop Final Report (IIRW). 2014, pp. 58–62, IEEE.

# Andreas Morhammer (Candidate for PhD Student)

(CV is not part of the public version of this proposal to protect the privacy of all partners involved in the project)

# Tibor Grasser (Scientific Partner)

(CV is not part of the public version of this proposal to protect the privacy of all partners involved in the project)

- T. Grasser, T.-W. Tang, H. Kosina, and S. Selberherr, "A Review of Hydrodynamic and Energy-Transport Models for Semiconductor Device Simulation," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 91, no. 2, pp. 251–274, 2003.
- [2] T. Grasser, B. Kaczer, W. Gös, H. Reisinger, T. Aichinger, Ph. Hehenberger, P.-J. Wagner, F. Schanovsky, J. Franco, M. Toledano-Luque, and M. Nelhiebel, "The Paradigm Shift in Understanding the Bias Temperature Instability: From Reaction-Diffusion to Switching Oxide Traps," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 58, no. 11, pp. 3652–3666, 2011.
- [3] T. Grasser, H. Reisinger, P.-J. Wagner, and B. Kaczer, "Time-Dependent Defect Spectroscopy for Characterization of Border Traps in Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Transistors," *Physical Review B*, vol. 82, pp. 245318–1–245318–10, 2010.
- [4] T. Grasser, B. Kaczer, W. Gös, T. Aichinger, Ph. Hehenberger, and M. Nelhiebel, "A Two-Stage Model for Negative Bias Temperature Instability," in 2009 IEEE International Reliability Physics Symposium Proceedings, 2009, pp. 33–44.
- [5] B. Kaczer, T. Grasser, Ph. J. Roussel, J. Franco, R. Degraeve, L. A. Ragnarsson, E. Simoen, G. Groeseneken, and H. Reisinger, "Origin of NBTI Variability in Deeply Scaled pFETs," in *Proceedings of the International Reliability Physics Symposium*, 2010, pp. 26–32.
- [6] B. Kaczer, T. Grasser, Ph. J. Roussel, J. Martin-Martinez, R. O'Connor, B. J. O'Sullivan, and G. Groeseneken, "Ubiquitous Relaxation in BTI Stressing-New Evaluation and Insights," in *Proceedings of the International Reliability Physics Symposium*, 2008, pp. 20–27.
- [7] H. Reisinger, T. Grasser, C. Schlunder, and W. Gustin, "The Statistical Analysis of Individual Defects constituting NBTI and its Implications for Modeling DC- and AC-Stress," in *Proceedings of the International Reliability Physics Symposium*, 2010, pp. 7–15.
- [8] T. Grasser, W. Gös, V. Sverdlov, and B. Kaczer, "The Universality of NBTI Relaxation and its Implications for Modeling and Characterization," in 45th Annual International Reliability Physics Symposium, 2007, pp. 268–280.
- [9] T. Grasser, B. Kaczer, Ph. Hehenberger, W. Gös, R. Connor, H. Reisinger, W. Gustin, and C. Schlünder, "Simultaneous Extraction of Recoverable and Permanent Components Contributing to Bias-Temperature Instability," in *Proceedings of the 2007 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 2007, pp. 801–804.
- [10] T. Grasser, "Stochastic Charge Trapping in Oxides: From Random Telegraph Noise to Bias Temperature Instabilities," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 39–70, 2012.

# **Peer-Reviewed Publications of T. Grasser since 2010**

For a complete and up-to-date list please refer to http://www.iue.tuwien.ac.at/

- [1] T. Aichinger, M. Nelhiebel, S. Einspieler, and T. Grasser, "In Situ Poly Heater-A Reliable Tool for Performing Fast and Defined Temperature Switches on Chip," *IEEE Transactions on Device and Materials Reliability*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 3–8, 2010.
- [2] T. Aichinger, M. Nelhiebel, S. Einspieler, and T. Grasser, "Observing Two Stage Recovery of Gate Oxide Damage Created under Negative Bias Temperature Stress," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 107, pp. 024508–1–024508–8, 2010.
- [3] T. Aichinger, M. Nelhiebel, and T. Grasser, "Energetic Distribution of Oxide Traps created under Negative Bias Temperature Stress and their Relation to Hydrogen," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 96, pp. 133511–1–133511–3, 2010.
- [4] T. Aichinger, M. Nelhiebel, and T. Grasser, "Refined NBTI Characterization of Arbitrarily Stressed PMOS Devices at Ultra-low and Unique Temperatures," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 53, no. 7, pp. 937–946, 2013.
- [5] M. Bina, S. Tyaginov, J. Franco, K. Rupp, Y. Wimmer, D. Osintsev, B. Kaczer, and T. Grasser, "Predictive Hot-Carrier Modeling of n-Channel MOSFETs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 61, no. 9, pp. 3103–3110, 2014.
- [6] V. V. A. Camargo, B. Kaczer, T. Grasser, and G. Wirth, "Circuit simulation of workload-dependent RTN and BTI based on trap kinetics," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 54, no. 11, pp. 2364–2370, 2014.
- [7] V. V. A. Camargo, B. Kaczer, G. Wirth, T. Grasser, and G. Groeseneken, "Use of SSTA Tools for Evaluating BTI Impact on Combinational Circuits," *IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems*, vol. PP, no. 99, 2013.
- [8] R. A. Coppeta, D. Holec, H. Ceric, and T. Grasser, "Evaluation of dislocation energy in thin films," *Philosophical Magazine*, vol. 95, no. 2, pp. 186–209, 2015.
- [9] J. Franco, S. Graziano, B. Kaczer, F. Crupi, L. A. Ragnarsson, T. Grasser, and G. Groeseneken, "BTI Reliability of Ultra-Thin EOT MOSFETs for Sub-Threshold Logic," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 52, pp. 1932–1935, 2012.

- [10] J. Franco, B. Kaczer, J. Mitard, M. Toledano-Luque, Ph. J. Roussel, L. Witters, T. Grasser, and G. Groeseneken, "NBTI Reliability of SiGe and Ge Channel pMOS-FETs With SiO2/HfO2 Dielectric Stack," *IEEE Transactions on Device and Materials Reliability*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 497–506, 2013.
- [11] J. Franco, B. Kaczer, Ph. J. Roussel, J. Mitard, M. Cho, L. Witters, T. Grasser, and G. Groeseneken, "SiGe Channel Technology: Superior Reliability Toward Ultrathin EOT Devices-Part I: NBTI," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 60, no. 1, pp. 396–404, 2013.
- [12] J. Franco, B. Kaczer, M. Toledano-Luque, M. F. Bukhori, Ph. J. Roussel, T. Grasser, A. Asenov, and G. Groeseneken, "Impact of Individual Charged Gate-Oxide Defects on the Entire  $I_D$  -V<sub>G</sub> Characteristic of Nanoscaled FETs," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 33, no. 6, pp. 779–781, 2012.
- [13] J. Franco, B. Kaczer, M. Toledano-Luque, Ph. J. Roussel, M. Choa, T. Kauerauf, J. Mitard, G. Eneman, L. Witters, T. Grasser, and G. Groeseneken, "Superior Reliability of High Mobility (Si)Ge Channel pMOSFETs," *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 109, pp. 250–256, 2013.
- [14] J. Franco, B. Kaczer, M. Toledano-Luque, Ph. J. Roussel, Ph. Hehenberger, T. Grasser, J. Mitard, G. Eneman, T. Y. Hoffmann, and G. Groeseneken, "On the Impact of the Si Passivation Layer Thickness on the NBTI of Nanoscaled Si<sub>0.45</sub>Ge<sub>0.55</sub> pMOSFETs," *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 88, no. 7, pp. 1388–1391, 2011.
- [15] J. Franco, B. Kaczer, M. Toledano-Luque, Ph. J. Roussel, T. Kauerauf, J. Mitard, L. Witters, T. Grasser, and G. Groeseneken, "SiGe Channel Technology: Superior Reliability Toward Ultra-Thin EOT Devices-Part II: Time-Dependent Variability in Nanoscaled Devices and Other Reliability Issues," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 60, no. 1, pp. 405–412, 2013.
- [16] W. Gös, F. Schanovsky, H. Reisinger, B. Kaczer, and T. Grasser, "Bistable Defects as the Cause for NBTI and RTN," *Solid State Phenomena*, vol. 178-179, pp. 473–482, 2011.
- [17] T. Grasser, "Stochastic Charge Trapping in Oxides: From Random Telegraph Noise to Bias Temperature Instabilities," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 39–70, 2012.
- [18] T. Grasser, B. Kaczer, W. Gös, H. Reisinger, T. Aichinger, Ph. Hehenberger, P.-J. Wagner, F. Schanovsky, J. Franco, M. Toledano-Luque, and M. Nelhiebel, "The Paradigm

**40** 

Shift in Understanding the Bias Temperature Instability: From Reaction-Diffusion to Switching Oxide Traps," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 58, no. 11, pp. 3652–3666, 2011.

- [19] T. Grasser, H. Reisinger, P.-J. Wagner, and B. Kaczer, "Time-Dependent Defect Spectroscopy for Characterization of Border Traps in Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Transistors," *Physical Review B*, vol. 82, pp. 245318–1–245318–10, 2010.
- [20] T. Grasser, K. Rott, H. Reisinger, M. Waltl, F. Schanovsky, and B. Kaczer, "NBTI in Nanoscale MOSFETs-The Ultimate Modeling Benchmark," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 61, no. 11, pp. 3586–3593, 2014.
- [21] Y. Illarionov, M. Bina, S. Tyaginov, and T. Grasser, "An analytical approach for the determination of the lateral trap position in ultra-scaled MOSFETs," *Japanese Journal* of Applied Physics, vol. 53, pp. 04EC22–1–04EC22–4, 2014.
- [22] Y. Illarionov, A. D. Smith, S. Vaziri, M. Ostling, T. Mueller, M. C. Lemme, and T. Grasser, "Bias-Temperature Instability in Single-Layer Graphene Field-Effect Transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 105, no. 14, pp. 1435071–1435075, 2014.
- [23] Y. Illarionov, M. I. Vexler, M. Karner, S. Tyaginov, J. Cervenka, and T. Grasser, "TCAD Simulation of Tunneling Leakage Current in CaF2/Si(111) MIS Structures," *Current Applied Physics*, vol. 15, pp. 78–83, 2015.
- [24] B. Kaczer, T. Grasser, J. Franco, M. Toledano-Luque, Ph. J. Roussel, M. Cho,
  E. Simoen, and G. Groeseneken, "Recent Trends in Bias Temperature Instability," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B*, vol. 29, pp. 01AB01–1–01AB01–7, 2011.
- [25] B. Kaczer, Ph. J. Roussel, T. Grasser, and G. Groeseneken, "Statistics of Multiple Trapped Charges in the Gate Oxide of Deeply Scaled MOSFET Devices-Application to NBTI," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 31, no. 5, pp. 411–413, 2010.
- [26] B. Kaczer, M. Toledano-Luque, W. Gös, T. Grasser, and G. Groeseneken, "Gate Current Random Telegraph Noise and Single Defect Conduction," *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 109, pp. 123–125, 2013.
- [27] G. Pobegen, T. Aichinger, T. Grasser, and M. Nelhiebel, "Impact of Gate Poly Doping and Oxide Thickness on the N- and PBTI in MOSFETs," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 51, pp. 1530–1534, 2011.

- [28] G. Pobegen, T. Aichinger, A. Salinaro, and T. Grasser, "Impact of Hot Carrier Degradation and Positive Bias Temperature Stress on Lateral 4H-SiC nMOSFETs," *Materials Science Forum*, vol. 778-780, pp. 959–962, 2014.
- [29] G. Pobegen and T. Grasser, "Efficient Characterization of Threshold Voltage Instabilities in SiC nMOSFETs Using the Concept of Capture-Emission-Time Maps," *Materials Science Forum*, vol. 740-742, pp. 757–760, 2013.
- [30] G. Pobegen and T. Grasser, "On the Distribution of NBTI Time Constants on a Long, Temperature-Accelerated Time Scale," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 60, no. 7, pp. 2148–2155, 2013.
- [31] G. Pobegen, M. Nelhiebel, S. de Filippis, and T. Grasser, "Accurate High Temperature Measurements Using Local Polysilicon Heater Structures," *IEEE Transactions on Device and Materials Reliability*, vol. 99, pp. 1–8, 2013.
- [32] G. Pobegen, S. Tyaginov, M. Nelhiebel, and T. Grasser, "Observation of Normally Distributed Energies for Interface Trap Recovery After Hot-Carrier Degradation," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 34, no. 8, pp. 939–941, 2013.
- [33] G. A. Rott, K. Rott, H. Reisinger, W. Gustin, and T. Grasser, "Mixture of negative bias temperature instability and hot-carrier driven threshold voltage degradation of 130 nm technology p-channel transistors," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 54, no. 9-10, pp. 2310–2314, 2014.
- [34] K. Rott, H. Reisinger, S. Aresu, C. Schlünder, K. Kölpin, W. Gustin, and T. Grasser, "New Insights on the PBTI Phenomena in SiON pMOSFETs," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 52, no. 9-10, pp. 1891–1894, 2012.
- [35] K. Rupp, A. Jüngel, and T. Grasser, "Matrix Compression for Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation for Semiconductors," *Journal of Computational Physics*, vol. 229, pp. 8750–8765, 2010.
- [36] K. Rupp, Ph. Tillet, A. Jüngel, and T. Grasser, "Achieving Portable High Performance for Iterative Solvers on Accelerators," *Proceedings in Applied Mathematics and Mechanics*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 963–964, 2014.
- [37] J. T. Ryan, P. M. Lenahan, T. Grasser, and H. Enichlmair, "Observations of Negative Bias Temperature Instability Defect Generation via On The Fly Electron Spin Resonance," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 96, no. 22, pp. 223509–1–223509–3, 2010.

- [38] F. Schanovsky, O. Baumgartner, V. Sverdlov, and T. Grasser, "A Multi Scale Modeling Approach to Non-Radiative Multi Phonon Transitions at Oxide Defects in MOS Structures," *Journal of Computational Electronics*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 218–224, 2012.
- [39] F. Schanovsky, W. Gös, and T. Grasser, "An Advanced Description of Oxide Traps in MOS Transistors and its Relation to DFT," *Journal of Computational Electronics*, vol. 9, no. 3-4, pp. 135–140, 2010.
- [40] F. Schanovsky, W. Gös, and T. Grasser, "Multiphonon Hole Trapping from First Principles," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 01A201–1– 01A201–5, 2011.
- [41] I. Starkov, S. Tyaginov, H. Enichlmair, J. Cervenka, C. Jungemann, S. Carniello, J. M. Park, H. Ceric, and T. Grasser, "Hot-Carrier Degradation Caused Interface State Profile-Simulation versus Experiment," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B*, vol. 29, pp. 01AB09–1–01AB09–8, 2011.
- [42] I. Starkov, S. Tyaginov, H. Enichlmair, J. M. Park, H. Ceric, and T. Grasser, "Accurate Extraction of MOSFET Unstressed Interface State Spatial Distribution from Charge Pumping Measurements," *Solid State Phenomena*, vol. 178-179, pp. 267–272, 2011.
- [43] M. Toledano-Luque, B. Kaczer, J. Franco, Ph. J. Roussel, T. Grasser, and G. Groeseneken, "Defect-Centric Perspective of Time-Dependent BTI Variability," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 52, no. 9-10, pp. 1883–1890, 2012.
- [44] M. Toledano-Luque, B. Kaczer, T. Grasser, Ph. J. Roussel, J. Franco, and G. Groeseneken, "Toward a Streamlined Projection of Small Device Bias Temperature Instability Lifetime Distributions," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 01A114–1–01A114–4, 2013.
- [45] M. Toledano-Luque, B. Kaczer, Ph. J. Roussel, M. Cho, T. Grasser, and G. Groeseneken, "Temperature Dependence of the Emission and Capture Times of SiON Individual Traps after Positive Bias Temperature Stress," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B*, vol. 29, pp. 01AA04–1–01AA04–5, 2011.
- [46] M. Toledano-Luque, B. Kaczer, Ph. J. Roussel, J. Franco, L. A. Ragnarsson, T. Grasser, and G. Groeseneken, "Depth Localization of Positive Charge Trapped in Silicon Oxynitride Field Effect Transistors after Positive and Negative Gate Bias Temperature Stress," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 98, pp. 183506–1–183506–3, 2011.

- [47] M. Toledano-Luque, B. Kaczer, E. Simoen, Ph. J. Roussel, A. Veloso, T. Grasser, and G. Groeseneken, "Temperature and Voltage Dependences of the Capture and Emission Times of Individual Traps in High-k Dielectrics," *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 88, pp. 1243–1246, 2011.
- [48] S. Tyaginov, Y. Illarionov, M. I. Vexler, M. Bina, J. Cervenka, J. Franco, B. Kaczer, and T. Grasser, "Modeling of deep-submicron silicon-based MISFETs with calcium fluoride dielectric," *Journal of Computational Electronics*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 1–6, 2014.
- [49] S. Tyaginov, I. Starkov, H. Enichlmair, C. Jungemann, J. M. Park, E. Seebacher, R. Orio, H. Ceric, and T. Grasser, "An Analytical Approach for Physical Modeling of Hot-Carrier Induced Degradation," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 51, pp. 1525– 1529, 2011.
- [50] S. Tyaginov, I. Starkov, O. Triebl, J. Cervenka, C. Jungemann, S. Carniello, J. M. Park, H. Enichlmair, M. Karner, C. Kernstock, E. Seebacher, R. Minixhofer, H. Ceric, and T. Grasser, "Interface Traps Density-of-States as a Vital Component for Hot-Carrier Degradation Modeling," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 50, pp. 1267–1272, 2010.
- [51] S. Tyaginov, Y. Wimmer, and T. Grasser, "Modeling of Hot-Carrier Degradation Based on Thorough Carrier Transport Treatment," *Facta Universitatis*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 479–508, 2014.
- [52] M. Vasicek, J. Cervenka, D. Esseni, P. Palestri, and T. Grasser, "Applicability of Macroscopic Transport Models to Decananometer MOSFETs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 639–646, 2012.
- [53] M. I. Vexler, Y. Illarionov, S. Tyaginov, and T. Grasser, "Adaptation of the Model of Tunneling in a Metal/CaF2/Si(111) System for Use in Industrial Simulators of MIS Devices," *Semiconductors (Physics of Semiconductor Devices)*, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 259–263, 2015.
- [54] W. Gös, M. Toledano-Luque, O. Baumgartner, F. Schanovsky, B. Kaczer, and T. Grasser, "A Comprehensive Model for Correlated Drain and Gate Current Fluctuations," in *Proceedings of the 16th International Workshop on Computational Electronics (IWCE 2013)*, 2013, pp. 46–47.
- [55] T. Grasser, K. Rott, H. Reisinger, M. Waltl, F. Schanovsky, W. Gös, and B. Kaczer, "Recent Advances in Understanding Oxide Traps in pMOS Transistors," in *Proceedings of 2013 IWDTF*, 2013, pp. 95–96.

44

- [56] T. Grasser, G. Rzepa, M. Waltl, W. Gös, K. Rott, G. Rott, H. Reisinger, J. Franco, and B. Kaczer, "Characterization and Modeling of Charge Trapping: From Single Defects to Devices," in *Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on IC Design* and Technology, 2014, pp. 1–4.
- [57] Y. Illarionov, A. D. Smith, S. Vaziri, M. Ostling, T. Mueller, M. C. Lemme, and T. Grasser, "Bias-Temperature Instability in Single-Layer Graphene Field-Effect Transistors: A Reliability Challenge," in 2014 IEEE Silicon Nanoelectronics Workshop, 2014, pp. 29–30.
- [58] Y. Illarionov, S. E. Tyaginov, M. Bina, and T. Grasser, "A method to determine the lateral trap position in ultra-scaled MOSFETs," in *Extended Abstracts of the 2013 International Conference on Solid State Devices and Materials(SSDM)*, 2013, pp. 728– 729.
- [59] K. Rupp, P. W. Lagger, and T. Grasser, "Inclusion of Carrier-Carrier-Scattering Into Arbitrary-Order Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," in *Proceedings of the 15th International Workshop on Computational Electronics* (*IWCE 2012*), 2012, pp. 109–110.
- [60] K. Rupp, Ph. Tillet, B. Smith, T. Grasser, and A. Jüngel, "A Note on the GPU Acceleration of Eigenvalue Computations," in *AIP Proceedings, volume 1558*, 2013, pp. 1536–1539.
- [61] M. Toledano-Luque, B. Kaczer, J. Franco, Ph. J. Roussel, M. Bina, T. Grasser, M. Cho, P. Weckx, and G. Groeseneken, "Degradation of time dependent variability due to interface state generation," in 2013 Symposium on VLSI Technology (VLSIT), 2013, pp. 190–191.
- [62] S. Tyaginov, M. Bina, J. Franco, B. Kaczer, and T. Grasser, "On the Importance of Electron-electron Scattering for Hot-carrier Degradation," in *Extended Abstracts of the* 2014 International Conference on Solid State Devices and Materials (SSDM), 2014, pp. 858–859.
- [63] M. I. Vexler, Y. Illarionov, S. Tyaginov, N. S. Sokolov, V. V. Fedorov, and T. Grasser, "Simulation of the Electrical Characteristics of the Devices with Thin Calcium Fluoride Films on Silicon-(111) Using MINIMOS-NT," in *Materials of XIII International conference DIELECTRICS*, 2014, pp. 159–162.

- [64] P. Sharma, S. E. Tyaginov, Y. Wimmer, F. Rudolf, K. Rupp, M. Bina, H. Enichlmair, J.M. Park, R. Minixhofer, H. Ceric, and T. Grasser, "Modeling of Hot-Carrier Degradation in nLDMOS Devices: Different Approaches to the Solution of the Boltzmann Transport Equation," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 62, no. 6, pp. 1811– 1818, 2015.
- [65] A.-M. El-Sayed, Y. Wimmer, W. Gös, T. Grasser, V. V. Afanasev, and A. L. Shluger,
   "Theoretical Models of Hydrogen-Induced Defects in Amorphous Silicon Dioxide," *Physical Review B*, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 014107–1–014107–11, 2015.
- [66] A.-M. El-Sayed, Matthew B. Watkins, T. Grasser, V. V. Afanasev, and A. L. Shluger, "Hydrogen-Induced Rupture of Strained Si-O Bonds in Amorphous Silicon Dioxide," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 114, no. 11, pp. 115503–1–115503–5, 2015.
- [67] A.-M. El-Sayed, Matthew B. Watkins, T. Grasser, V. V. Afanas'Ev, and A. L. Shluger, "Hole trapping at hydrogenic defects in amorphous silicon dioxide," *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 147, pp. 141–144, 2015.

# Ansgar Jüngel (Scientific Partner)

(CV is not part of the public version of this proposal to protect the privacy of all partners involved in the project)

### **10 Most Relevant Publications of A. Jüngel**

- [1] J. A. Carrillo, A. Jngel, P. A. Markowich, G. Toscani, and A. Unterreiter, "Entropy Dissipation Methods for Degenerate Parabolic Problems and Generalized Sobolev Inequalities," *Monatshefte für Mathematik*, vol. 133, no. 1, pp. 1–82, 2001.
- [2] A. Jüngel, Quasi-hydrodynamic Semiconductor Equations, Springer, 2001.
- [3] A. Jüngel, Transport Equations for Semiconductors, Springer, Berlin, 2009.
- [4] A. Jüngel and R. Pinnau, "Global Nonnegative Solutions of a Nonlinear Fourth-Order Parabolic Equation for Quantum Systems," *SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 760–777, 2000.
- [5] P. Degond, S. Gnieys, and A. Jüngel, "A System of Parabolic Equations in Nonequilibrium Thermodynamics including Thermal and Electrical Effects," *Journal de Mathmatiques Pures et Appliques*, vol. 76, no. 10, pp. 991 – 1015, 1997.
- [6] A. Jüngel and R. Pinnau, "A Positivity-Preserving Numerical Scheme for a Nonlinear Fourth Order Parabolic System," *SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. pp. 385–406, 2002.
- [7] L. Chen and A. Jüngel, "Analysis of a Multidimensional Parabolic Population Model with Strong Cross-Diffusion," *SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 301–322, 2004.
- [8] P. Degond, A. Jüngel, and P. Pietra, "Numerical Discretization of Energy-Transport Models for Semiconductors with Nonparabolic Band Structure," *SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 986–1007, 2000.
- [9] L. Chen and A. Jüngel, "Analysis of a Parabolic Cross-Diffusion Population Model without Self-Diffusion," *Journal of Differential Equations*, vol. 224, no. 1, pp. 39 – 59, 2006.
- [10] G. Galiano, M. L. Garzon, and A. Jüngel, "Semi-Discretization in Time and Numerical Convergence of Solutions of a Nonlinear Cross-Diffusion Population Model," *Numerische Mathematik*, vol. 93, no. 4, pp. 655–673, 2003.

# Peer-Reviewed Publications of A. Jüngel since 2010

For a complete and up-to-date list please refer to http://juengel.at.vu/

- G. Ali, L. Chen, A. Jüngel, and Y.-J. Peng, "The zero-electron-mass limit in the hydrodynamic model for plasmas," *Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods and Applications*, vol. 72, pp. 4415–4427, 2010.
- [2] K. Aoki, A. Jüngel, and P. Markowich, "Small velocity and finite temperature variations in kinetic relaxation models," *Kinetic and Related Models*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 1–15, 2010.
- [3] M. Bessemoulin-Chatard and A. Jüngel, "A finite volume scheme for a Keller-Segel model with additional cross-diffusion," *IMA Journal of Applied Mathematics*, vol. 34, pp. 96–122, 2014.
- [4] M. Brunk and A. Jüngel, "Self-heating in a coupled thermo-electric circuit-device model," *Journal of Computational Electronics*, vol. 10, pp. 163–178, 2011.
- [5] M. Bukal, E. Emmrich, and A. Jüngel, "Entropy-stable and entropy-dissipative approximations of a fourth-order quantum diffusion equation," *Numerische Mathematik*, vol. 127, pp. 365–396, 2014.
- [6] M. Bukal, A. Jüngel, and D. Matthes, "A multidimensional nonlinear sixth-order quantum diffusion equation," *Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincaré - Analyse non lineaire*, vol. 30, pp. 337–365, 2013.
- [7] M. Bukal, A. Jüngel, and D. Matthes, "Entropies for radially symmetric higher-order nonlinear diffusion equations," *Communications in Mathematical Sciences*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 353–382, 2010.
- [8] J. A. Carrillo, S. Hittmeir, and A. Jüngel, "Cross diffusion and nonlinear diffusion preventing blow up in the Keller-Segel model," *Mathematical Models & Methods in Applied Sciences*, vol. 22, pp. 1–35, 2012.
- [9] C. Chainais-Hillairet, M. Gisclon, and A. Jüngel, "A Finite-Volume Scheme for the Multidimensional Quantum Drift-Diffusion Model for Semiconductors," *Numerical methods for partial differential equations*, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 1483–1510, 2011.
- [10] L. Chen, X.-Q. Chen, and A. Jüngel, "Semiclassical limit in a simplified quantum energy-transport model for semiconductors," *Kinetic and Related Models*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 1049–1062, 2011.

- [11] X.-Q. Chen, A. Jüngel, and J.-G. Liu, "A Note on Aubin-Lions-Dubinskii Lemmas," *Acta Applicandae Mathematicae*, vol. 133, pp. 33–43, 2014.
- [12] M. Dreher and A. Jüngel, "Compact families of piecewise constant functions in  $L^p(0,T;B)$ ," Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods and Applications, vol. 75, pp. 3072–3077, 2012.
- [13] Ph. Fuchs, A. Jüngel, and M. Von Renesse, "On the Lagrangian structure of quantum fluid models," *Discrete And Continuous Dynamical Systems*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 1375– 1396, 2013.
- [14] S. Hittmeir and A. Jüngel, "Cross-diffusion preventing blow-up in the two-dimensional Keller-Segel model," *SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis*, vol. 43, pp. 997–1022, 2011.
- [15] A. Jüngel, "Dissipative quantum fluid models," *Rivista di Matematica della Universita*" degli studi di Parma, vol. 3, pp. 217–290, 2012.
- [16] A. Jüngel, "Effective velocity in compressible Navier-Stokes equations with thirdorder derivatives," *Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods and Applications*, vol. 74, pp. 2813–2818, 2011.
- [17] A. Jüngel, "Energy transport in semiconductor devices," *Mathematical and Computer Modelling of Dynamical Systems*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 1–22, 2010.
- [18] A. Jüngel, "Global weak solutions to compressible Navier-Stokes equations for quantum fluids," *SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 1025–1045, 2010.
- [19] A. Jüngel, "The boundedness-by-entropy method for cross-diffusion systems," Nonlinearity, vol. 28, pp. 1963–2001, 2015.
- [20] A. Jüngel, S. Krause, and P. Pietra, "Diffusive semiconductor moment equations using Fermi-Dirac statistics," *Zeitschrift für Angewandte Mathematik und Physik*, vol. 62, pp. 623–639, 2011.
- [21] A. Jüngel and P. Kristöfel, "Lyapunov functionals, weak sequential stability, and uniqueness for energy-transport systems," *Annali dell'Universita di Ferrara*, vol. 58, pp. 89–100, 2012.

- [22] A. Jüngel, C.-K. Lin, and K.-C. Wu, "An Asymptotic Limit of a Navier-Stokes System with Capillary Effects," *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, vol. 329, pp. 725– 744, 2014.
- [23] A. Jüngel, J. L. Lopez, and J. Montejo-Gamez, "A New Derivation of the Quantum Navier-Stokes Equations in the Wigner-Fokker-Planck Approach," *Journal of Statistical Physics*, vol. 145, pp. 1661–1673, 2011.
- [24] A. Jüngel and J.-F. Mennemann, "Time-dependent simulations of quantum waveguides using a time-splitting spectral method," *Mathematics and Computers in Simulation*, vol. 81, pp. 883–898, 2010.
- [25] A. Jüngel and J.-P. Milisic, "A simplified quantum energy-transport model for semiconductors," *Nonlinear Analysis: Real-World Applications*, vol. 12, pp. 1033–1046, 2011.
- [26] A. Jüngel and J.-P. Milisic, "Full compressible Navier-Stokes equations for quantum fluids: derivation and numerical solution," *Kinetic and Related Models*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 785–807, 2011.
- [27] A. Jüngel, C. Negulescu, and P. Shpartko, "Bounded weak solutions to a matrix driftdiffusion model for spin-coherent electron transport in semiconductors," *Mathematical Models & Methods in Applied Sciences*, vol. 25, pp. 929–958, 2015.
- [28] A. Jüngel, R. Pinnau, and E. Röhrig, "Analysis of a bipolar energy-transport model for a metal-oxide-semiconductor diode," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 378, pp. 764–774, 2011.
- [29] A. Jüngel, R. Pinnau, and E. Röhrig, "Existence analysis for a simplified transient energy-transport model for semiconductors," *Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences*, vol. 36, pp. 1701–1712, 2013.
- [30] A. Jüngel and I. V. Stelzer, "Entropy structure of a cross-diffusion tumor-growth model," *Mathematical Models & Methods in Applied Sciences*, vol. 22, pp. 1–26, 2012.
- [31] A. Jüngel and R. Weishäupl, "Blow-up in two-component nonlinear Schrödinger systems with an external driven field," *Mathematical Models & Methods in Applied Sciences*, vol. 23, no. 9, pp. 1699–1727, 2013.

on simula-Computa-Harmonics Journal of rformance s and Me-

- [32] A. Jüngel and M. Winkler, "A Degenerate Fourth-Order Parabolic Equation Modeling Bose-Einstein Condensation Part II: Finite-Time Blow-Up," *Communications in Partial Differential Equations*, vol. 40, pp. 1748–1786, 2015.
- [33] A. Jüngel and M. Winkler, "A Degenerate Fourth-Order Parabolic Equation Modeling Bose-Einstein Condensation. Part I: Local Existence of Solutions," *Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis*, vol. 217, pp. 935–973, 2015.
- [34] D. Matthes, A. Jüngel, and G. Toscani, "Convex Sobolev Inequalities Derived from Entropy Dissipation," *Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis*, vol. 199, pp. 563– 596, 2011.
- [35] J.-F. Mennemann, A. Jüngel, and H. Kosina, "Transient Schrödinger-Poisson simulations of a high-frequency resonant tunneling diode oscillator," *Journal of Computational Physics*, vol. 239, pp. 187–205, 2013.
- [36] K. Rupp, A. Jüngel, and T. Grasser, "Matrix Compression for Spherical Harmonics Expansions of the Boltzmann Transport Equation for Semiconductors," *Journal of Computational Physics*, vol. 229, pp. 8750–8765, 2010.
- [37] K. Rupp, Ph. Tillet, A. Jüngel, and T. Grasser, "Achieving Portable High Performance for Iterative Solvers on Accelerators," *Proceedings in Applied Mathematics and Mechanics*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 963–964, 2014.
- [38] B. Schörkhuber, T. Meurer, and A. Jüngel, "Flatness of Semilinear Parabolic PDEs A Generalized Cauchy-Kowalevski Approach," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 58, no. 9, pp. 2277–2291, 2013.
- [39] N. Zamponi and A. Jüngel, "Two spinorial drift-diffusion models for quantum electron transport in graphene," *Communications in Mathematical Sciences*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 927–950, 2013.
- [40] B. Schörkhuber, T. Meurer, and A. Jüngel, "Flatness-based trajectory planning for semilinear parabolic PDEs," in *IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, 2012, pp. 3538–3543.
- [41] N. Zamponi and A. Jüngel, "Global existence analysis for degenerate energy-transport models for semiconductors," *Journal of Differential Equations*, vol. 258, pp. 2339– 2363, 2015.

3D Solution of the Boltzmann Equation